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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in purchasing, processing,
designing, production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery
products and operation of strategic investment and financial services, with the
objective to include investments in real estate agency business and real estate
investment funds and other potential investment opportunities.

The Company was spun-off from Man Sang International Limited and listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’) by way of introduction on 17 October 2014 under the stock code
of 1466. In March 2017, the name of the Company was changed from Man
Sang Jewellery Holdings Limited to Affluent Partners Holdings Limited.

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants, purchasers and processors
of pearls. The processing and production of pearls and jewellery are conducted
at the Group's production facilities in Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC").

During the current financial year, the Group has maintained its investment in
the co-working space industry which are included in the strategic investment
and financial services operating segment.

The Group will continue to explore new business opportunities so arising in
order to maximise shareholders’ value in the coming future.
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KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FEM B RN

Year ended 31 March
BE3A31ALLEE

Consolidated Income Statement  ZREUWZHE R 2023 2022 Change
2023 2022 ) %

Revenue (HK$'000) WA (FETT) 86,880 62,647 24,233 387
Gross profit (HK$'000) ERM(FHT) 7,827 10,992 (3,165) (288)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRATEFATER],

(HK$'000) (B#8) (FET) 8,726 (15,462) 24,188 156.4
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to  ZN4E[E 7 7K A B IR

equity holders of the Company FEAEm A, (E518)

(HK$'000) (F3%71) 8,726 (15,462) 24,188 156.4
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) BREANEERT],

per share (HK$) (BE)(BT) 0.01 (0.04) 0.05 1250

As at 31 March

®3A31H
Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position ZEBBRRE 2023 2022 Change
2023 F 2022 4 25 %
Net assets (HK$'000) BEFE(TETL) 78,338 35,867 42,471 1184
Cash and cash equivalents RekZFERRE (FAET)

(HKS'000) 41,261 23,585 17,676 75.0
Shareholders’ equity (HK$'000) IR bz (F&T) 78,338 35,867 42471 1184
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS R R

2023 2022 Change
2023 F 2022 5 gy
Gross profit margin®” FERZRO 9.0% 17.5% (8.5)
percentage points
8.5) 18 & 7 Bh
Return on equity? fEHRE S [OR 18.7% (43.1)% 618
percentage points
61.81EE 7B
Current ratio (times)® MENELE (f5) 0 4.6 17
Gearing ratio® BARBBHE 0.02 0.83
m Gross profit margin represents gross profit divided by revenue of the Group. (1 EMEIRARNEBEFBRABA ©
) Return on equity is defined as the ratio of profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the  (2) BREECEHRATARRBREEEEF,(EE)
Company to total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. FRIAZR DRI R (L AR R 2 Lh K o
3) Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities. 3) RELLERATARDEERERURDAEREREZ
B

4) Gearing ratio represents total borrowing, including current and non-current portion, divided — (4) BEABBEREREARE(BERDRIERDBS)
by total equity. FRIA MR RS o
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Chairman’s Statement
T

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the results of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 ("FY23").

PERFORMANCE

Since January 2020, many countries have imposed travel restrictions, public
health measures and quarantine requirement of travellers in order to contain
the outbreak of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) (the “Outbreak”) which
resulted in the weakened consumer sentiment in the world which reduced the
total Group's sales contribution in pearl and jewellery products. The Group will
continue to observe the high-consumption products market, to review and
adjust business development strategies in a timely manner to find ways to
broaden the customers’' base and deploy cost control measures in a bid to
deploy for steady performance in the future.

During FY23, the entire principal amount and its relevant interest of the loan
notes in respect of the real estate agency investment were fully collected. As a
result, a reversal gain of allowance for expected credit loss on other receivables
was recorded.
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PROSPECTS

With the completion of the rights issue during FY23 that can ease the liquidity
pressure and improve the financial position of the Group. The Group will
further use its resources as a listed company to add value for the acquisition
project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue enhancing the development of the mature pearls and jewellery
business, introducing more new jewellery products, actively participating in
various important jewellery & gem fairs around the world and optimising
operation efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive.

With the existing Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment, the
Group will focus its investments and operations more in the real estate, co-
working spaces and investment and asset management sectors. Furthermore,
the Group entered into the memorandum of understanding for the potential
acquisition of new feminine products business and we expect that it will be
the growth driver of the Group in the future once it is executed.

APPRECIATION

I' would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to all our
shareholders, customers and other business partners for their long-term
attention and support to the Group over the years. | would also like to thank
the senior management team and all the staffs of the Group for their
dedication, hard work and contributions to the Group during the past year.

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The Board is pleased to report the results of the Company and the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY23"). During FY23, the consolidated profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$8.7 million (year ended
31 March 2022 (“FY22"): loss of HK$15.5 million), representing a substantial
increase in profit of 156.1% as compared with the loss in FY22. The basic
earnings per share was HK$0.01 (FY22: loss per share of HK$0.04), representing
a substantial increase of 125.0% as compared with that in FY22 mainly due to
the reversal of allowance for expected credit loss on other receivables and the
decrease in finance costs.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Pearls and Jewellery Business Segment

The Group is one of the world’s largest merchants, purchasers and processors
of pearls, with its customers spanning through 50 countries and regions
around the globe. Leveraging its own competitive advantages, which include
the close and stable relationship with customers and suppliers, the Group has
offered vertically integrated product chain and built a renowned reputation in
the pearl and jewellery industry.

The segmental revenue generated from the Pearls and Jewellery Business
Segment increased from HK$59.9 million in FY22 to HK$85.2 million in FY23.
For FY23, the return on capital of pearls and jewellery products was (2.0)%
(FY22:3.7%).

Following Hong Kong's lifting of the mandatory mask mandate and full
resumption of travel, more business traders from all over the world have joined
the jewellery fair. During the year, the Group has purchased some jade
products as to become part of the jewellery business segment. The Group is
planned to launch the jade products in 4th quarter of this year in the jewellery
fair/show in order to boost more sales and broaden the clients’ base. The
Group targets to sell the jade products to mainland China and Asian countries
as the demand for jade products in those markets are still higher than that in
western market. Besides, potential marketing plan such as combining jade and
pearls, will attract preference from another group of new customers.
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While the Board considers the market sentiment is continuously improving,
nevertheless, the unprecedented circumstances brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic continue to pose challenges to the business of the Group,
the Group will continue to strictly control costs and improve operation
efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay competitive. The Group will continue
to actively participate in various important jewellery and gem fairs around the
world when the market is recovering in order to maintain its diversified
customer base.

Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment

During FY23, the Group maintained the real estate investment business
through the Strategic Investment and Financial Services Segment. This
segment has been in operation and its objectives include investments in real
estate agency business and co-working space industry as well as other
potential investment opportunities.

Since June 2019, the social movement has been dampening the economic
activities in Hong Kong. The business operating environment in Hong Kong
became uncertain and challenging, as well as weaker consumer sentiment,
decline of visitor arrivals from mainland China to Hong Kong. As a result, the
clients of co-working business had been affected significantly and it attributed
to the decline of the demand of co-working spaces. In addition, since the
Outbreak in January 2020, the travel restrictions, public health measures and
quarantine requirement of travellers which were imposed by Hong Kong
government and other countries have adversely affected the operation of co-
working business, which has in turn affected the demand of co-working space,
as well as the average rental income of co-working space. In order to reduce
losses and maintain the business, the management of the co-working business
has downsized the co-working space network in Hong Kong. The Group had
recognised the investment in the co-working space industry as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income and was fully impaired in
previous years.

On 10 November 2017, the Group entered into an investment agreement and
subscribed for loan notes (“Loan Notes") issued by Wonderland (UK) Holdings
Limited (“the Issuer”). The principal amount was GBP3,500,000 which carried
interest at 6% per annum and payable on the date on which the Loan Notes
become payable or are redeemed. The maturity date of the Loan Notes was on
9 November 2020 and would be redeemed at 100% of the principal amount.
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On 9 November 2020, all Loan Notes expired and no conversion option was
exercised by the Group. The outstanding principal amount of GBP3,500,000
and the then accrued interest of approximately GBP571,000 were not settled.
Since the expiry of the Loan Notes on 9 November 2020, the Company had
been actively liaised with the management of the Issuer for the repayment of
the principal and interests under the Loan Notes. However, up to 28 June 2022,
the outstanding principal amount of GBP3,500,000 and an accrued interest of
GBP62,614 remained unsettled.

The Company announced that on 29 June 2022, the Group, the Issuer and the
guarantors entered into the deed of variation, pursuant to which the
investment agreement shall be amended to the effect that: (1) the repayment
date for the Loan Notes shall be extended to 31 October 2022; (2) upon the
maturity of the Loan Note, the respective default interest rate shall be
amended from 1% to 6% per annum, i.e. the effective interest rate on the
outstanding amount shall be increased to 12% following default of the Loan
Notes; and (3) the Issuer shall pay to the Group a total of GBP75,000 within one
month of the date of the deed of variation. Save as disclosed above, all other
material terms of the investment agreement and the relevant personal
guarantees obtained for guaranteeing the repayment obligations of the Loan
Notes as disclosed in the announcements remain unchanged.

On 24 October 2022, the Group, the Issuer and the guarantors entered into the
notice, pursuant to which the investment agreement and the deed of variation
shall be amended to the effect that: (1) the repayment date for the Loan Notes
shall be further extended to 31 January 2023; and (2) the Issuer shall pay to the
Group a total of GBP45,000 as a cure payment. Save as disclosed above, all
other material terms of the investment agreement, the deed of variation and
the personal guarantees remain unchanged.

On 18 January 2023, the Issuer fully repaid the outstanding principal and
accrued interests of the Loan Notes. Details of the transaction were disclosed in
the announcements of the Company dated 1 September 2017, 3 October
2017,20 October 2017, 12 November 2017 and 18 January 2023.

Looking forward, with the redemption of the Loan Notes and the investment
in the co-working space industry, we expect that our strategic investment and
financial services segment will diversify the income streams of the Group and
generate additional investment returns on the available funds of the Company
from time to time. We expect that the segment will be one of the growth
drivers of the Company in the future and we will make continuous efforts to
find appropriate investment projects. The Group will further use its resources
as a listed company to add value for the acquisition projects, so as to increase
its profitability and return.
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LITIGATION

As at the reporting date, the group was not involved in any other material
litigation or arbitration.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no financial guarantee.

RIGHTS ISSUE

On 12 May 2022, the Company completed a rights issue at a price of HK$0.11
per rights share on the basis of one (1) rights share for every one (1) existing
share held by the qualifying shareholders on the record date (i.e. 14 April 2022)
(the “Rights Issue”). Details of the Rights Issue are set out in the Company'’s
announcements dated 28 January 2022, 17 February 2022, 1 April 2022, 12 May
2022, the Company’s circular dated 17 March 2022 and the Company’s
prospectus dated 19 April 2022 respectively. The net proceeds from the Rights
Issue were approximately HK$32.8 million after deducting estimated rights
issue commission and professional fees and other expenses, approximately
HKS$27.2 million of which had been earmarked for the partial repayment of the
Group's other borrowings and accrued interests and the remaining of which
used for the general working capital of the Group.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING IN
RELATION TO THE POTENTIAL ACQUISITION

On 11 August 2022, The Group entered into a memorandum of understanding
(the "MOU") with the vendors (the “Vendors"), pursuant to which the Group
will acquire and the Vendors will procure the sale of a group of companies
established in the PRC upon completion of its reorganisation, which are
principally engaged in the provision of skincare solutions through self-
transformed skincare brand and functional skincare products, as well as
medicinal research and development. The consideration is expected to be
HK$42,000,000, of which 25% of the consideration is expected to be settled by
issue of consideration shares by the Company, and 75% of the consideration is
expected to be settled by the issue of convertible bonds by the Company.

Details of the MOU were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 11
August 2022 and 10 November 2022.
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PROSPECTS

With the co-working space industry, we anticipate that the Strategic
Investment and Financial Services Segment will diversify the income streams of
the Group, and generate additional investment returns on the available funds
of the Company from time to time. We expect that the segment will be the
growth driver of the Company and will actively make continuous efforts to find
appropriate investment projects in the future.

Overall speaking, the outbreak is adversely impacted on the business
performance of the Group. Although the Group's revenue in Pearls and
Jewellery Products segment was increased during FY23, based on the Group's
current observation and estimation, the overall downtrend is expected to be
carried forward to certain extent for coming years due to the change of
consumption pattern caused by the outbreak. As such, the Group is preparing
to enter the jade products market so as to broaden the customers’ base. The
Group has from time to time been looking for opportunities to leverage its
management expertise to expand its existing business to further uncover the
potential market of its ultimate female consumers. The Group is taking all
practicable measures to cope with the challenges ahead, while striving for the
highest caution standard to protect the health and safety of our staff and our
customers.

The Group will further use its resources as a listed company to add value for
the acquisition project to increase its profitability and return. Meanwhile, the
Group will continue enhancing the development of the mature pearls and
jewellery business, introducing more new jewellery products, actively
participating in various important jewellery and gem fairs around the world
and optimising operation efficiency and productivity in a bid to stay
competitive.

With the development of the existing Strategic Investment and Financial
Services Segment, the Group will focus its investments and operations more in
the real estate, co-working spaces and investment and asset management
sectors.

Further, the Group entered into the memorandum of understanding for the
potential acquisition of the skincare solutions through self-transformed
skincare brand and functional skincare products, in which if the acquisition is
materialized, it will increase the Group's profitability and return.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products and
operation of strategic investment and financial services.

Revenue and Gross Profit

Revenue increased to HK$86.9 million for FY23 (FY22: HK$62.6 million),
comprised sales of pearl and jewellery of HK$85.2 million (FY22: HK$59.9
million) and interest income on strategic investment and financial services of
HKS$1.7 million (FY22: HK$2.7 million), mainly as a result of the increase in the
sales of pearl and jewellery.

Gross profit decreased by HKS$3.2 million to HK$7.8 million (FY22: HKS$11.0
million). The gross profit margin during FY23 is decreased mainly due to the
provision for impairment loss on certain jewellery products of the inventories.

Selling and Administrative Expenses (the “S&A
expenses”)

S&A expenses mainly comprised selling expenses of HK$0.4 million (FY22:
HKS$0.8 million) and administrative expenses of HK$16.2 million (FY22: HK$14.8
million). S&A expenses increased by HKS1 million or 6.4% to HK$16.6 million
(FY22: HK$15.6 million) in FY23. S&A expenses was maintained constantly due
to the result of cost control measures deployed by the Group during FY23.

Profit (loss) Attributable to Equity Holders of the
Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company substantially increased
by HK$24.2 million or 156.1% to HK$8.7 million in FY23 (FY22: loss of HKS$15.5
million) was mainly due to the reversal of allowance for expected credit losses
on other receivables, net and the decrease in finance costs during the year as
compared to FY22.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the year, the Group funded its operations through a combination of
cash generated from operations, equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company and proceeds from Rights Issue. As at 31 March 2023, the Group's
total equity was HK$78.3 million (2022: HK$35.9 million), representing an
increase of 118.1% from last year.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$41.3
million (31 March 2022: HK$23.6 million). Cash and cash equivalents were
mainly denominated in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
The Group's net current assets were HK$77.4 million (31 March 2022: HK$34.1
million). The current ratio, represented by the total current assets divided by
the total current liabilities, was 4.6 (31 March 2022: 1.7).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had outstanding borrowings of HK$2 million
which is at interest rate of 6% per annum and is scheduled to be repayable on
12 December 2023. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had outstanding
borrowings of HK$29.8 million which was secured by other receivables with
carrying value of HK$20.6 million. With the available cash and cash equivalents
and cash generated from operations, the Group has adequate financial
resources to meet the anticipated future liquidity requirements and capital
expenditure commitment.

Capital Structure

As at 31 March 2023, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
639,297,928 (31 March 2022: 319,648,964) of HK$0.02 each (the "Shares”) and
its issued share capital was HK$12,785,959 (31 March 2022: HK$6,392,979).

On 12 May 2022, the Company completed the Rights Issue at a price of
HKS$0.11 per rights share on the basis of one (1) rights share for every one (1)
existing share held by the qualifying shareholders on the record date (i.e. 14
April 2022). Details of the Rights Issue are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 28 January 2022, 17 February 2022, 1 April 2022, 12 May
2022, the Company’s circular dated 17 March 2022 and the Company's
prospectus dated 19 April 2022 respectively. The net proceeds from the Rights
Issue were approximately HK$32.8 million after deducting estimated rights
issue commission and professional fees and other expenses, approximately
HK$27.2 million of which had been earmarked for the partial repayment of the
Group's other borrowings and accrued interests and the remaining of which
used for the general working capital of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, there was no movements in either the Company’s
authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.
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Capital Commitments

At the end of the reporting periods, the Group had no significant commitments
outstanding.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries
during FY22 and FY23.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from various currencies,
such as United States dollars, Great Britain Pounds and Renminbi, which were
the major foreign currencies transacted by the Group during FY22 and FY23.

Since Hong Kong dollars remain pegged to the United States dollars within a
defined range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk against the United States dollars. The Group has subsidiaries operating in
the PRC, in which most of their transactions, including revenue, expenses and
other financing activities, are denominated in Renminbi. The Group has
investment operating in England which is denominated in Great Britain
Pounds.

The Group manages its foreign currency risk against other currencies by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and may use hedging
derivative, such as foreign currency forward contract, to manage its foreign
currency risk as appropriate.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total workforce of 30 (31 March 2022: 47),
of whom 17 (31 March 2022: 18) were based in Hong Kong. The total staff
costs, including Directors’ emoluments and mandatory provident fund, was
approximately HK$10.0 million in 2023 (2021: HK$11.2 million). Employees were
remunerated on the basis of their performance and experience. Remuneration
packages, including salary and year-end discretionary bonus, were determined
by reference to market conditions and individual performance.
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Key performance indicators

The Company has defined the following key performance indicators ("KPIs")
which are closely aligned with the performance of the Group.

FERBIEE

ARBERENTERNEERBZTYIEBZ E
SRR ((EBZRBER] -

For the year ended 31 March
BE3ANHALEE

2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Lz FET FET
Revenue Uz 86,880 62,647
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to equity ~ ZNEE AN B IR F LS
holders of the Company wmF, (E518) 8,726 (15,462)
Equity attributable to equity holders RRABRRE GRS
of the Company 78,338 35,867
Return on capital employed in sale HERDKLRKEERTE
of pearls and jewellery products B2 Bl 1 (2.0)% 3.7%
Return on capital employed in strategic KIS E MRS TR
investment and financial services WA 2 37.8% (34.4)%
Notes: BT
(1) Return on capital employed in sale of pearls and jewellery products represents segment profit (1) HELKRRKRBERAMAERZBRIEHELIKR
or loss from sale of pearls and jewellery products business divided by average capital REEMEBZ A aMSEERIATEIRAER -
employed and is measured as a percentage. W HEFBBADLL
) Return on capital employed in strategic investment and financial services represent segment  (2) REEIRERMBERIEFTAER Z B RIERBEIRER

profit or loss from strategic investment and financial services divided by average capital

employed and is measured as a percentage.

Commentary on the performance of the Group against each of these KPIs is set
out in "“BUSINESS REVIEW" above.

These KPIs are reviewed regularly and amended occasionally to correspond
with the changing mix of the Group’s principal activities.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s management reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. They have determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is principally engaged
in purchasing, processing, designing, production and wholesale distribution of
pearls and jewellery products and operation of strategic investment and
financial services. Accordingly, the Group has identified two operating
segments — sales of pearls and jewellery products segment and strategic
investment and financial services segment.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the principal risks and uncertainties which may impact the
Group's financial conditions, results of operations or future performance and
how the Group mitigates these risks is set out below.

This summary should not be regarded as a complete and comprehensive
statement of all potential risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, but rather
those risks which the Group currently believes may have a significant impact
on the Group's performance and future prospects.

o B ) i S o0 A

BN Y RN ES

AIREREBEARRE Z MR - BEREIRE
e o S NS E N S e
AR AR % R R BN T3 -

SR B TR AR E S AR SR E E b 2 FT A B R
@ R TR R Z TBFRRL - HEARER
R REZ SRR %ﬁKEIZ%ﬁ&%XM
SBREATE

Principal risks Description Mitigating actions

FTERE AR BRI

Strategic risk Strategic risk is the risk that medium and long term Extensive investment management
RES R BR profitability and/or reputation of the Group could be experience of the Board.

adversely impacted by the failure either to identify or
implement the correct strategy, or to react
appropriately to changes in the business environment.
SRS 1 R\ B 5 TR oK B 38k Bl S B Bt LE MR SR WS sl 0 i
BEREEELEE REME AR EE P R K
BFIRE ) RSB BER TR E 2 E R o

Economic risk Economic risk is the risk of any downturn in economic
17 [ B conditions which could impact the Group's

performance through higher bad debts as a result of
customers’ inability to repay loans and lower asset
values.

R R @EEH%@%%ZTﬁE@vE@%@
BEPENEEERMEEURRIE NN EEEER
B EAEERSE -

Credit risk Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
EERK customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations.
ﬁ%ﬂ e RAMEMTIAZEPARIHF R
THENERE AEBAXMBERRAR -

Business risk Business risk is the risk that any of our major customers

%= ceases their business relationship with us.
EBERABEMEIEEFRIERHEMERERL
e

EXeNREAER EEKR -
Regularly review on strategy and
performance of each business unit.
A B EBEL R RKR
Perform comprehensive due diligence on all
potential acquisitions.

B BENESRETEHERES

It

o

Regularly review forward looking indicators
to identify economic conditions.
EHIRET AT MR R DURBRERE -

Fully understand customers and carry out
credit quality assessment on customers
before granting loans.
RELERA2ETBEPITHEPE
TEEE &L -

Regularly monitor loans and interest
receivable and assess for their recoverability.
FHEREBRERRFE - WaZEA]
BRI ER

Continually review market trends and
maintain a competitive position by retaining
product quality.

BBRFERER  HERNITSBE
W HEFF R IAL o
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Principal risks Description Mitigating actions
FERE RE g2ty
Operational risk Operational risk is the risk of increasing labour costs Regularly assess the requirements of labours
ZiE R R and labour shortages which could have a material and based on forecasts.
adverse impact on the Group’s operation and RIETER E BRIk -
profitability.
EERR RS TR L RS TR HAER
LERBMEIVEKEANNTZE 2 R -
Liquidity risk Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of
MEVE & Rk to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. financial position.
RBETRARASAERBEEBITHIRZHE EHERREBE S MIBIRREK
EFzRAR - Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover
commitments.
RBEERDE AR B AGE
Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing only
in securities listed on stock exchanges.
BRERENELRGM LT ZBHM
REIRENE SRR ©
Ensure acceptable and appropriate finance
in place, or believed to be available before
committing investment projects.
AEREEE AR B IEE AR
NEEER
Price risk Price risk is the risk that changes in equity prices will Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address
EiRRR affect the Group'’s income and the value of its holdings any portfolio issues promptly.

Exchange risk

BEE 50 [l g

of equities.
EREARABTEREERAREMFEREEE
2 RBEE) 2 FE R

Exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign
exchange rates will affect the Group’s income and the
value of its holdings of assets.
EARBRARTERAEERANEMRBEEER
ZINEFE R B H) 2 A o

FHERKRFREHE AR EIR
KEHAGRHE o

Spread price risk exposure by investing a
number of equities.

BREZERFEUDBRERERER -

Closely monitor statement of financial
position and cash flow exchange risk
exposures.

BRI FEAR N TR IR & e LR o



Annual Report 2023 &R

Management Discussion and Analysis

o B ) i S o0 A

Principal risks

FERME

Description
R

Mitigating actions

B R

People risk

AERR

Legal and
regulatory risk

ARREERR

People risk is the risk of loss of the services of any
directors, senior management and other key personnel
which could have a material adverse effect on the
Group's businesses.

AFRBRREIMNES SREBAEREMEIR
ABRIERE AT B E AR R BRI E K E R T F
E27Ek -

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a breach of laws
and regulations could lead to litigation, investigations
or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred,
civil and/or criminal proceedings and reputational
damage.

ERNEE R AR RIER AR FIRESI BERAA
AES AL - BREEEINLA - RER A
EFEFRBEXBZAR -

Provide competitive reward and benefit
packages that ensure our ability to attract
and retain the employees we need.

R AT ) 2 5B KB B A RE (R
REBERENRSINEERFZES -
Ensure that the staff of the Group have the
right working environment to enable them
to do the best job possible and maximise
their satisfaction at work.

BRALEE ZBEIEG#E 2 TIFREN
SEBIRBEAMEMT TERBERA
THEMEE -

Monitor changes and developments in the
regulatory environment and ensure that
sufficient resources being made available to
implement any required changes.
ERRERR 2 EPRERLERATA
ZERBABBERBRE 2 EE -

Seek legal or other specialist advice as
appropriate.
BERSRERIHEMERZER -
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CHAIRMAN

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, aged 55, was appointed as an executive director and the
Chairman of the Board of the Company on 27 September 2019 and 18 October
2019 respectively. He obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University of
Glamorgan in 1992 and a Master Degree in Business Administration from
Cardiff Business School in 1993. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
International Accountants. He is also a Chartered Marketer of The Chartered
Institute of Marketing and a member of Institute of Management Accountants.
He has over 28 years of working experience in merger and acquisition, finance
and accounting, banking, asset management and funds operations in various
industries including real estate developments, infrastructure developments,
real estate investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries. Mr. Cheng is currently an executive director and the chief
executive officer of China Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code: 2330)
and an executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code:
559), the shares of both are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Cheng was an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Sino Haijing Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1106), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2017 to
August 2018. He was also a non-executive director of IRC Limited (stock code:
1029), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from February 2017 to March 2020.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Alex, aged 44, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 11 April 2016. Mr. Leung obtained his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of Auckland, New Zealand in May 2000. Mr. Leung
had worked in two international accounting firms from December 2000 to
February 2012. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accounting and the CPA Australia. He has more than 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and corporate management. Mr. Leung is
currently an executive director of China Healthwise Holdings Limited (stock
code: 348), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Leung was an executive director and the group chief financial
officer of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from October 2014 to
November 2018.
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Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, aged 54, was appointed as an executive director,
company secretary and the chief financial officer of the Company on 1 April
2018. He is also an executive director and the chief financial officer of Far East
Holdings International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0036) since 17 February 2023, and an independent
non-executive director of Ocean Line Port Development Limited, a company
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8502) since November 2020 and an independent non-executive
director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 524) since March 2021.

Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has accumulated over 30 years’ working
experience from an international audit firm and public listed companies. He
had spent about 8 years in the international audit firm and was an audit
manager before he left the firm. Thereafter, Mr. Cheung has held different
senjor positions in various public listed companies. He was an executive
director and chief financial officer of Dingyi Group Investment Limited (stock
code: 508), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2011 to March 2018.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zhu Yongjun, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 9 September 2022. Mr. Zhu obtained his undergraduate from
Hunan University in 1989 and a master degree of business administration in
Peking University in the People’s Republic of China in 2005. Currently, Mr. Zhu
is the chairman of the board and an executive director of China Water Industry
Group Limited (Stock code: 1129) and New Concepts Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 2221) which are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Also, from May 2014 to March 2020, Mr. Zhu was the chairman of the board of
Josab Water Solutions AB, a company incorporated under the laws of Sweden,
whose shares are listed on the Spotlight Stock Market, a stock exchange in
Sweden. Mr. Zhu started his environmental protection career in 2001. From
July 2007 to February 2009, Mr. Zhu was an executive director of Softpower
International Limited (Stock code: 380) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From May 2008 to March 2013, Mr. Zhu was an executive
Director of EverChina Int'l Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 202) which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From January 2009 to May
2015, he was also the chairman of the board of Heilongjiang Interchina Water
Treatment Company Limited (Stock Code: 600187) which is listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 14 January 2022. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of
Arts in International Accounting from City University of Hong Kong and a
Master's Degree of Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in taxation, accounting,
financing, audit field and public listed companies for many years. Mr. Wong is
currently an executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 559) and an independent non-executive director of China Water Industry
Group Limited (stock code: 1129), both companies are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an independent non-executive
director of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8081) and was an
independent non-executive director of Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock
code: 8292) from June 2016 to June 2023, both companies are listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chang Chunyu, aged 40, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 November 2022. Mr. Chang holds a PhD Degree of
Polymer Chemistry and Physics and a Bachelor's Degree of Applied Chemistry
from Wuhan University. He is a professor in College of Chemistry and Molecular
Sciences at Wuhan University. His research interests include polymer hydrogel,
nanocellulose functional materials and high-strength orthopedic medical
materials.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard of
corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interests of all of its stakeholders, and the Board is fully
committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards of corporate
governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the Group to
manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high standard of
accountability and protect stakeholders' interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement of policy which
provides guidance on the application of the corporate governance principles
on the Group, with reference to the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code’) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2023
and, where appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices of the CG
Code, except for the deviations disclosed below.

1. There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") up to the date of this report. In the absence of a CEO, the duties
of the CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr.
Cheung Sze Ming. In the opinion of the Directors, the present
arrangement is effective and efficient.

2. Under code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days
should be given of a regular board meeting to all Directors an
opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31 March 2023, certain
regular Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days’ notice to
enable the Directors’ to react timely and make expeditious decisions in
respect of transactions which were of significance to the Group's
business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board meetings were held
with a shorter notice period than required with no objection by all the
Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement
of code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code in future.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, upon specific
enquiries made by the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group, which
includes leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management and
performances. The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management of the Group. The
delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and announcements
for the Board's approval before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk management procedures; and (3)
compliance with relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances
and to ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company's
corporate governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the Group and for
the exercise of independent judgement. The Directors with various professional
qualifications, experience and related financial management expertise have
contributed to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). Hence, the Board believes
that the current Board composition satisfies the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the Group as well as
the ongoing development and management of its business activities.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi
Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, a non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe and Mr. Chang Chunyu.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in “Profile of Directors” on pages 20
to 22 of this annual report.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Company, and to review and
approve the Company’s interim and annual results. During the year ended 31
March 2023, 7 Board meetings were held and the attendance of each Director
at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this report.

Under code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be
given of a regular board meeting to all directors an opportunity to attend.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, certain regular Board meetings were
convened with less than 14 days’ notice to enable the Directors to react timely
and make expeditious decisions in respect of transactions which were of
significance to the Group’s business. As a result, the aforesaid regular Board
meetings were held with a shorter notice period than required with no
objection by the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the
requirement of code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code in future. In addition to
Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. The Company
Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply
with all applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the accompanying
Board papers are normally sent to the Directors at least three days before the
intended date of a Board meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are
circulated to the Directors for their comments before being approved. All
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), all
Directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting. At each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Save as disclosed in the "Profile of Directors” set out on pages 20 to 22 of this
annual report, the Directors do not have material financial, business or other
relationships with one another.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the executive Directors are clearly segregated to
ensure independence and proper checks and balances. The Chairman focuses
on the business strategy and direction of the Company, provides leadership to
the Board and ensures proper and effective functioning of the Board in
discharge of its responsibilities. The executive Directors are collectively
accountable to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company’s
strategies and the co-ordination of overall business operations.

There is currently no officer carrying the title of Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ”)
up to the date of this annual report. In the absence of a CEO, the duties of the
CEO have been/will continue to be collectively undertaken by all executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheng Chi Kin, Mr. Leung Alex and Mr. Cheung Sze Ming.
In the opinion of the Directors, the present arrangement is effective and
efficient.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors, appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after their appointment
and be subject to re-election at that meeting; and those Directors appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and be eligible for re-
election.

Moreover, all non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for an initial term of one year, which are renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year from the day immediately after
the expiry of the current terms of their respective appointments, subject to
expiration on the earlier of either (i) the conclusion of the annual general
meeting of the Company in the year of the third anniversary of the
appointment or re-election of that Director; or (i) the expiration of the period
within which the annual general meeting of the Company is required to be
held in the year of the third anniversary of the appointment or re-election of
that Director; or (iii) earlier determination in accordance with the Articles and/
or any applicable laws and regulations.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received confirmation of
independence from all three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny, Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe and Mr. Chang Chunyu in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all of them are independent within the definition
of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of
any events which would cause it to believe that the independence of any of
the independent non-executive Directors has been impaired up to the date of
this report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy’) in
October 2014 which was amended in December 2018. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees
increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of the Company’'s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience. The Company will also
take into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 6 Directors, amongst them, 2
are independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. The Board is also characterized by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age, professional
experience, skills and knowledge.

Appointment of Directors is based on meritocracy and the Board Diversity
Policy is among the criteria used in selecting members to join the Board.
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In order to achieve Board Diversity, the Company would put further emphasis
on gender balance and gender equality in future recruitments and
identification of potential candidate(s). The Nomination Committee will discuss
and agree annually on the measurable objectives, and recommend
candidate(s) to the Board for adoption. The Company decided to appoint at
least one female director on or before 31 December 2024. The Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, candidate(s) will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

During the year, in respect of gender diversity at the workforce level (including
senior management), the female employee is about 56%. The Company always
strives to achieve and enhance gender diversity (in terms of gender ratio)
across all levels of the workforce so far as reasonably practicable.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with specific written
terms of reference and all members of the Audit Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit the Company funds in order to obtain
advice from outside legal counsel, accountants, investigatory services or other
expert advice. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee detailing the
authority and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises 2 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe and Mr. Chang Chunyu. On 10 May 2023, Mr.
Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (“Mr. Chiu") tendered his resignation as an independent
non- executive Director, as well as the chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Following his resignation, the Company will use its best endeavour
to identify suitable candidate to fill up the vacancy of the chairman of the Audit
Committee as soon as practicable, in any event within three months from the
date of resignation of Mr. Chiu as required under Rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings
to review the interim and the annual results, internal control review report and
risk assessment report before their submission to the Board. The attendance of
each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section headed “Board
and Committees Meetings” of this report.

The audit committee of the Company, which comprises two independent non-
executive Directors of the Company, has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed the
internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters including the
review of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2023.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board with specific
written terms of reference and the majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee detailing the authority and
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises 2 independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe and Mr. Chang Chunyu, a non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and an executive Director, namely
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee held 2
meetings to review and recommend the proposed emolument of a new
executive Director and the proposed adjustment to the emolument of an
executive Director. The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings”
of this report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2023 are set out in note 35(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board with specific
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst
other things, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, considering the reappointment of the Directors and succession
planning for Directors and making recommendations to the Board in respect
of the aforesaid matters. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
detailing the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises 2 independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe and Mr. Chang Chunyu, a non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Zhu Yongjun and an executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng
Chi Kin. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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The Board adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 21 December 2018 to formally set out the criteria and process on the
selection, nomination and appointment of Directors. According to the
Nomination Policy, the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Directors rests with the entire Board or the Shareholders in general meeting as
the case may be. The Board has delegated the relevant screening and
evaluation process to the Nomination Committee, which identifies suitable
candidates for directorships and recommends them to the Board. In assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate(s), the Nomination Committee takes
into consideration the candidates’ character, integrity, personal attributes
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience and
expertise that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy,
and the ability to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes, his commitment to devoting adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, fulfilment of the independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules (for independent non-executive Directors) and diversity on the
Board. After reaching its decision, the Nomination Committee nominates the
relevant candidate(s) to the Board for approval of appointment. The Board will
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election
of Directors at general meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee held 2
meetings to review the structure, size and composition of the Board; to assess
the independence of all independent non-executive Directors; to recommend
to the Board on the nomination of retiring Directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company; and to recommend the proposed
appointment of a new executive Director, a member of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee; and to
recommend the proposed appointment of the Chairman. The attendance of
each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the section headed
"Board and Committees Meetings” of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

Upon appointment, new Directors receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a Director to ensure that they are sufficiently aware of their
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, receive amendments to or updates on the
relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company encourages the
Directors to enrol in a wide range of professional development courses and
seminars relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
corporate governance practices so that they can continuously improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the year ended 31 March 2023
to the Company. The Company has also continuously updated the Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.

The participation by each Director in continuous professional development for
the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:
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Reading materials relating
to rules and/or attending
trainings and seminars

BEEERAZMRIR,
Name of Director EEHE RHFEFIRANE
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BB A 4
Mr. Leung Alex REE A v
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REFBUE A 4
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (appointed on 9 September 2022) KRBELA (R202F9B9HERT) v
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe =K A A 4
Mr. Chang Chunyu (appointed on 17 November 2022) & &R L4 (R 2022F 11 B 17 BREERT) 4
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (resigned on 10 May 2023)  #8Z8E5E4 (7820234 5 A 10 B &) v/
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic (resigned on 11 October 2022) &% %t 4 (722022 6710 A 11 B&HT) v/
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS EHRGARETE G

The individual attendance records of each Director at the general meetings  EZE 20233 31 BILEE  KEEFLHFRE
and the meetings of the Board and various Committees during the yearended A& - EExe@ L& EZEe o5 @R HE L
31 March 2023 are set out below: HHWT -

Audit Remuneration Nomination

General Board Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
Exg® ERZEE FHZEEE REZE®
Name of Director EENE BRRAE = a3 g2 g2
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BFEREE 2/2 7/7 - 3/3 3/3
Mr. Leung Alex ey e 2/2 5/7 - - -
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming RS L 22 717 - - -
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (Note 1) REERE (M) - 23 - 1N 1)
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe R EE 2/2 6/7 2/2 3/3 3/3
Mr. Chang Chunyu (Note 2) BEMEE(HE2) - 12 11 - -
Mr.Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (Note 3)  #Z 88584 (FiT3E3) 2/2 5/7 2/2 3/3 3/3
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic (Note 4) BRI E (fE4) 2/2 2/3 11 22 22
Notes: MEEE -
0] Mr. Zhu Yongjun was appointed as a non-executive Director on 9 September 2022. m KEBFERER2002FIAIBRZTRIENITES -

) Mr. Chang Chunyu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 (2) BEMEENR 2022911 817 AEZ T ABMIEHRNTT
November 2022. HEEo

3) Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 10 May — (3) HERE L EMN2023F5 AI0HBHEB Y IEMITES -
2023.

(4) Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 11 October — (4) EREER202F 10411 BEEBILIERITES ©
2022.

Sy

Apart from formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged ~ BRIE\ &) - BEF S ENSEUERNZE
by means of circulation of written resolutions. EDRFEZR IR ©



Annual Report 2023 &R

Corporate Governance Report

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023 which gives a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of the results and cash flows for
year then ended. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023, the Board has selected appropriate accounting policies, applied
them consistently in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards which are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements, made judgements and estimates that are prudent and reasonable,
and ensured the preparation of the financial statements on the going concern
basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. The interim
and annual results of the Company are announced in a timely manner within
the limit of two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for preparing all
information and representation contained in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the services provided by the Company’s
auditor, Moore Stephens CPA Limited, to the Group and associated
remuneration were as follows:
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12 BT T 4
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Fees paid/payable

Services Rendered Frig itz R %% B ELEA
HKS$'000
FHET
Audit of financial statements B ERE 650
Other non-audit services H b IET RS 62
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the design and
implementation of internal controls and risk management which covers
financial reporting, operations, compliance and risk management of the
Company, as well as continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated such responsibility to
the management of the Company. The management, under the supervision of
the Board, has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and
managing significant risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk management that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee also
considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.

In light of the size and scale of the Group's businesses, the Company does not
establish a separate internal audit department. The Group has engaged an
independent professional firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems annually. The
independent professional firm engaged has performed a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems covering
the period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. The review covered all key
controls and based on inquiry, observation and analytical review procedures
supplemented by testing of transactions, reports and reconciliation. The overall
opinion on the internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
satisfactory.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system in place covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review and up to the date of
issuance of the annual report is reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming, the Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the
Company. Mr. Cheung reported to the Chairman of the Company and is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr.
Cheung confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year under review and has complied with the
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the "EGM Requisitionists”") can deposit
a written request to convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") to the
Board at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 906,
9/F, Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The
EGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of the EGM and
such request(s) must be signed by all the EGM Requisitionists and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the EGM
Requisitionists.

The Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong will
verify the EGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the EGM Requisitionists’ request.
Promptly after their confirmation that the EGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance
with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if
the EGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the EGM Requisitionists
will be advised of the outcome and a EGM will not be convened as requested.

The EGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-tenth of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the EGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene an EGM provided that any EGM so
convened is held within two (2) months from the date of the original EGM
Requisitionists’ request. An EGM so convened by the EGM Requisitionists shall
be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. Shareholders can also send enquiries and proposals putting forward
for Shareholders’ consideration at Shareholders’ meetings to the Board in
writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong as shown
below or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the Company.

Room 906, 9/F,

Wings Building,

110-116 Queen’s Road Central,
Central,

Hong Kong

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make enquiries through
the Company’s website and by means of emails to the investor relations
department (email address: ir@affluent-partners.com). The management
always provides prompt responses to any such enquiries. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, there were no changes in the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association. An up-to-date consolidated version of the
Company's memorandum and articles of association is available on the
Company's website.

During the Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of our shareholders communication policy, it is concluded that
the policy has been effectively implemented.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in December
2018. The Group considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders
to be its goal. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia, the operating results, cash flow, financial condition and
capital requirements of the Group and the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole. The Company'’s distribution of dividends shall also be subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association of the Company as well as all applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Dividend Policy allows the Board to declare special dividends from time to
time in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. There is no guarantee
that any particular amount of dividends will be distributed for any specific
periods. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time.

By Order of the Board
Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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The Directors herein present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the Group
was principally engaged in the purchasing, processing, designing, production
and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products and operation of
strategic investment and financial services.

The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 March 2023 by
operating segment is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group's future
business development during the year ended 31 March 2023 including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 7 and the Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 8 to 19 of this annual report.

Financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 124 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page 5 of this
annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on its principal activities and the
risk of non-compliance with such laws and regulations could lead to litigation,
investigations or disputes, resulting in additional costs being incurred, civil
and/or criminal proceedings and reputational damage.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to promoting an environmentally conscious work
place and aims and places significant emphasis on minimising our
environmental impact and to create a more sustainable future for future
generations.

Apart from subcontracting some intermediary production process to
independent third parties, our production operations are carried out by the
production facilities of Hui Bao Feng Jewellery (Shenzhen) Limited ("HBF
Jewellery"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in Shenzhen, which is
subject to certain PRC environmental laws and regulations. The primary waste
generated from our production processes is waste water, which is treated in
compliance with the applicable PRC environmental laws and regulations. To
ensure the operation of HBF Jewellery is in compliance with the applicable
environmental law on an ongoing basis, we have entered into a waste water
treatment agreement with a qualified water treatment company which is
responsible for collecting the waste water in the production process.

HBF Jewellery has been compliant with all relevant PRC environmental related
laws and regulations in all material respects during the year ended 31 March
2023.

Further discussion on the Group's environmental issues and policies will be
contained in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2023 which will be published in due course.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 62 of this annual report. The Board
does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the section of “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” in the
consolidated financial statements on page 66 of this Annual Report.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 34(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

At 31 March 2023, the Company had no reserves available for distribution in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands (2022: the Company's net reserves available for distribution
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law (2020
Revision) of the Cayman Islands as HK$593,000, which represented the retained
earnings/accumulated losses and share premium.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 43
to 46 of this annual report, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements during the year ended 31 March 2023.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 176.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Alex
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhu Yongjun (appointed on 9 September 2022)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe

Mr. Chang Chunyu (appointed on 17 November 2022)
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny (resigned on 10 May 2023)
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic (resigned on 11 October 2022)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Leung Alex will retire
at the annual general meeting. Mr. Leung Alex will not offer himself for re-
election at the annual general meeting.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Zhu Yongjun and Mr. Chang
Chunyu who were appointed as a non-executive Director and an independent
non-executive Director respectively as an addition to the Board, shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company.
Mr. Zhu Yongjun and Mr. Chang Chunyu, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Article 164(1) of the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed
duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any
of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in force and was in
force throughout the year end 31 March 2023.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy throughout the year, which indemnifies against costs, charges,
losses, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 22.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
holding companies was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company has been entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 March 2023.

COMPETING BUSINESSES

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors have any interests in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
have any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year ended 31
March 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 17 October 2014. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme (the “Options”) shall not in aggregate exceed
16,969,496 shares, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue at the date
of approval of the refreshed scheme mandate limit at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 28 September 2018 and taken in the effect of the
Share Consolidation. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to
grant an option to any of the directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants (including
executive and non-executive consultants) of any member of the Group as
determined by the Board. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by the Company
(and to which the provisions of chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
No Options may be granted under any schemes of the Company if this will
result in the limit being exceeded. The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each eligible participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue.
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The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to the
eligible participants to contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are
valuable to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant Options to the
eligible participants to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise
price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Subject to certain
restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme, Options may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of
grant thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which is not
more than 10 years from the date of grant of Options. There is no general
requirement on the minimum period for which Options must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before Options can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the time of granting
any Option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to
such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without limitation) those
in relation to the minimum period of the Options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no Options were lapsed and no Options
were granted, exercised or cancelled. As at the date of this report, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of Options yet
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 63,929,792, representing
approximately 10% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company (i.e.
639,297,928 shares).
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The movements in the Options granted under the Share Option Scheme  EZE 202343 A31 BIFFE @ {RIEEREL 2

during the year ended 31 March 2023 are shown below: B2 EREEBWN TR
Number of Options
BREHE
Adjustment on
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Rights Issue At Exercise
Name or category of 1 April during during during during during 31March Date of grant Validity period price of
participants 2022 the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year* 2023  of Options of Options Options
H2022% £R R £ £ R H2023% BRE
SREZHERER 4f1H BRHE BTfE B BAH HRAE 38318 RUBRERE BREAWA T
HKS
AT
per share
&k
Executive Directors
YTES
Mr. Leung Alex 100,000 - - - - 3083 103083 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 1300
RRERE W8FI0A9F 28102023
WI9F10AVRE
W3E10A 28R
100,000 - - - - 3084 103,084 29102018 29-10-2020to 1300
WIBEINAVE 28102023
WNF10AVBE
03E10A 28R
Mr.Cheung Sze Ming 848,400 - - - - 26,161 874561 29-10-2018 29-10-2019to 1300
Fadnk 2018F10A9E 2810203
WI9F10AVRE
03E10A 28R
848,400 - - - - 26,161 874561 29-10-2018 29-10-2020to 1300

018F 10/ 298 28-10-2023
WNF10AVBE
03F10A28A

Sub-total 1,896,800 - - - - 58489 1955289
/j\ %f
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Number of Options
BREHE
Adjustment on
At Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Rights Issue At Exercise
Name or category of 1 April during during during during during 31March Date of grant Validity period price of
participants 2022 the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year* 2023  of Options of Options Options
H2022% ER R £R £R £ #2035 BRE
SEE IR ERER 4A18 BEHE BT Bt BAH HRAE 38318 RUEBRERE BREAWA T
HKS
AT
per share
&k
Others
At
Employees 50,000 - - - - 1543 51543 29102018 29-10-2019to 1300
€8 2018F10A9F 2810203
WI9FI0AVRE
W3E10A 28R
50,000 - - - - 1542 51542 29102018 29-10-2020to 1300
W18FI0A29HE 28102023
WNFI0AVBE
W3E10A 28R
50,000 - - - - 1542 51542 131222018 13-12-2019t0 1164
WIBENRABE 1212003
019F12A13BE
W3E12A128
50,000 - - - - 1542 51542 131222018 13-12-2020t0 1164
WIBENRABE 1212003
W0FENABAE
W3E12A128
Sub-total 200,000 - - - - 6,169 206,169
Nt
Total 2,096,800 - - - - 64,658 2,161458
st
* As a result of Rights Issue, adjustments were made to the exercise price of and the number of ~ * BAAEAR - ZETEI T RARITEERENITEE R

the outstanding share options under the Scheme with effect from 13 May 2022. BEELAE  B5202F5 B13BBER -



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware and save as disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” on pages 43 to 46 of this report, as at 31 March 2023,
none of the Directors or chief executives and their respective associates had
any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) (i) which will be required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company, or (i) which will be required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 43 to
46 of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2023 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 March 2023 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
and did not constitute connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who directly or indirectly, had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company,
which are required to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

TR i g7

MR2023F3A31 8 IBESEAM - RAQFK
BREERGPEEXEEREEEREGES
N ERE GBI ) 28 XVEB SR 2 K 399 BRAGSC F A
B RIRIE(EF RIS D] 5 336 (R BREAZ
Rt E R MOERARMALT(RRFE
EREBITHMABRINGAT

Number of Percentage of
ordinary shares the issued
Name of substantial of HK$0.02 Long/short share capital
shareholder Capacity each held position of the Company
A sREE RN
0.02/87T 2 BRITRA
FERRER MR a4 EERYA 1879 Aok
(note)
(Bt &%)
Pacific Wish Limited (Note) Beneficial owner 84,088,691 Long position 13.15%
BERARDE () EREAA 1A
Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 Long position 13.15%
BBt A (BTRE) REEEE#ER R
Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation 84,088,691 Long position 13.15%

FrE e L (fE) REEEER
Note:  These 84,088,691 shares were directly owned by Pacific Wish Limited, which was legally and

beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing as to 50% and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily as to
50%. As at 31 March 2023, the board of directors of Pacific Wish Limited comprised Mr. Chan
Vincent Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there was no other person or
entity had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
the following Directors are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Changes

Mr. Cheung Sze Ming Appointed as executive director and chief financial
officer of Far East Holdings International Limited
(stock code: 0036) on 17 February 2023.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe  Resigned as independent non-executive director of
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock code: 8292)
on 16 June 2023.

Save for the above changes, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which comprises 2 independent non-executive
Directors, has reviewed with the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the internal control, risk
management and financial reporting matters including the review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 March 2023
contributed by the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively are as
follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 44%
—  five largest suppliers combined 80%
Sales

—  the largest customer 85%
— five largest customers combined 87%

None of the Directors, their associates or substantial Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) were interested, at any time during the year, in the Group's five largest
customers or suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates and the
local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success. The Group strives
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging employees, providing
quality services to customers and collaborating with business associates
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver sustainable products and
services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2023, which will be
published in due course.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibility, performance and comparable market statistics.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as at the date of this report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws of
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2023.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the Shareholders are
unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised
to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March, 2023 were
audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited. A resolution will be submitted to the
annual general meeting to re-appoint Moore Stephens CPA Limited as the
independent auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Cheng Chi Kin

Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
M ST AZ T

K| MOORE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Affluent Partners
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group”)
set out on pages 62 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) I3 3 9 w2 I (80
Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables W £ 3k < B A5 B 4R A Al

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 20(a) to the consolidated financial statements)

(2B AMIERERMEES - 6(0) & 20(a))

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETOMEEERESEE

Key audit matter

BREEEE

As at 31 March 2023, the gross trade receivables of the Group  Our key procedures to address the matter included:
amounted to approximately HK$19,744,000 and its related HFIRIEEHEE BRIEFEE

allowance for expected credit loss amounted to approximately
HK$12,728,000.

R2023F3A31H - BEEEERKEFRETEL19744,000
B Rk EEBREREEEBREELN R 127280008 7T

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables and
the sufficiency of the allowance for expected credit loss. The
management of the Company estimated the amount of
expected credit loss based on provision matrix through
grouping of various customers that have similar loss patterns,
after considering the credit profile of respective customers,
ageing analysis, geographical areas, historical settlement
records and on-going trading relationships with the relevant
customers. The management of the Company also considered
the forward-looking information that may impact the
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances as to
estimate the expected credit loss.
ERFEEEHEWE Rz TR R IEREEEBREE
ZRRMETERTME . BERAEEEKEREBTS
ZEEER RSN - R - BAEENCE R EERET
FzHEESHME  REBEREREEBSBARUEER
A2 ZEEPMAETRBEESESE - BEAREERE
MRttt EREEBRE BT ETPEERRMAREER
EREE T Z RIEILEHY -

obtained an understanding of the Group's provision policy
on trade receivables, the key controls and procedures for
managing and monitoring the credit risk;

TR BEEECZERBEFBERELRREETIERE
EREERR T EETIEBMRIET

obtained the ageing analysis of the trade receivables and
discussed with the management of the Company about
their evaluation of the background and financial capability of
the debtors and their credit assessment that the amounts
were recoverable;

BEEBERZEREST TR BSAREEREN®
REMNEBAZE R LM BB 1 2 5k DA K % 55 4
A E & EERE

tested the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a
sample basis, to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlements to bank receipts;

AT S SR R B E R R D AT - WX
RITUHR BB S AR B

inquired the management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at the year ended and
corroborated explanations from the management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding on-going
business relationship with customers based on the trade
records, checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the customers;
BHEEEARNFABCAN ZEEREKRER
ZIERWIAZFBE (NRIBRE HCeR T HEET S 25
BEBRER REZPZBENRHEBEMNCEIAKE
BEPZHEMBA REERE 2HE
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YA L TSy
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) 7 B % vt 2 JH (%)

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables
(Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5, 6(b) and 20(a) to the consolidated financial statements)  ((52R4E & TSRS -~ 6(b) 2 20(a)) (&)
(Continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMETNMEEERESEE

Key audit matter

RRETEE

We have identified the management’s assessment of the  Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)
recoverability of the trade receivables and estimation of RIEIEAMEE Z MERFEIE (&)
expected credit loss as a key audit matter because the amounts

involved were significant and the assessment required
significant management judgement and involved high level of
estimation uncertainty.

HAIE AT IE E s I S A W B 1T 2 FF i M TR RS
ERBE AT RRRETFE  RARMISHREE
A BFMAREEEEBIEHEXRHE LS R SE N HEE M

reviewed credit related information of a sample of debtors
which were compiled by the management of the Company
as part of their assessment on the recoverability of the trade
receivables;

mtes BERREREREZBEBAGERBEER
ERREN LR ERATRE T 2 —3F5

flt

— assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provision methodology including the identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of the
grouping of trade receivables into different categories in the
provision matrix and the basis of estimated loss rates
adopted in each category; and

— FAEHEEEERERENGENL  BEHFIEE
WERKEN REHEERAKEBRERDBRTR
BRlzEBUERERMRAEAERER 2 EE K

—  examined the key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess
the accuracy and completeness, and challenged the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit loss.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Net realisable value of inventories

[38 4 % it 3 0E (4)

i 2 WS B

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements) (BRERAVBHREMFES X 19)

Key audit matter

HREEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETOMEEEESEE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's inventories amounted to
approximately HK$44,611,000 and the reversal of provision for
impairment losses on inventories of approximately
HKS$11,400,000 was recognised by the Group in the
consolidated profit or loss for the year.

20233 A31H - EXEEZFELRA461100087T
BEEREEEBEHEDL 114000008 TH HEEER
REFEESBERPHER -

The management of the Company assessed the provision for
obsolete or slow-moving inventories taking into consideration
of inventory ageing, condition of inventories, historical and
current sales information, as well as different market factors
impacting the selling price of these inventories. In addition, the
management of the Company considered the changes in
prevailing market condition, expected market trends and
customer demands.

%’D\ AIEBENERENFHTFERE  UKERFER
CFEMRR BEREAMEEER  UERRERFEFE
EEBZTAMSESE - I ERFEREDERRT
i - EEMISBEREFFRE -

We have identified the management’s impairment assessment
of the provision for obsolete or slow-moving inventories as a
key audit matter because the amounts of inventories were
significant and the assessment required significant
management judgement and involved high level of estimation
uncertainty.
HMESEREHRESFIHTEREET IRET L
EREREANFE RARGFERBEAN  BABMG
TEEERBELEAMBL S RSEMEFTHEENL -

Our key procedures to address the matter included:

BMEEBRERARERFEHE

—  obtained understanding of, and evaluated, the Group's
provision policy on inventories;

—  TEREFE BEREZEFERBEERE

—  reviewed and assessed the management’s process of the
identification of obsolete or out-dated inventories and
estimation of the net realisable value of these inventories;

— BRI EEEANRESBNTE 2AEREZ
EFER #IFE A5

—  tested the purchase cost, selling price and margins of aged
and obsolete inventories, on sample basis, to the supporting
documents;

— BEAXHHERABHEMREFEZRENLN &
(B K M

—  reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories,
on sample basis, with reference to subsequent sales
information, the external price data and estimated costs to
be incurred to make the sale and performed testing, on a
sample basis, by tracing to the supporting documents; and

— BB RFEFEEZAIERFE(K2RERIEEE
- 9I\a‘BE%%{Tf“&Lﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ’\]ﬁﬁfﬂz$)ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
BB NRE B S TR AR
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Net realisable value of inventories (Continued)

(Please refer to Notes 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements)

(Continued)

Key audit matter

RRETER
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W AZ R

[oh 9 7 it =5 0 (4
R Z B (4)

(B2 M BHRERMES 219)(8)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWETNAEEEESEE

Our key procedures to address the matter included: (Continued)

BMEEEREACBRIZEF a2 - ()

selected samples of jewellery items held by the Group as at
31 March 2023, comprising items of different nature, ageing
profiles and price for gemmological appraisal carried out by
gemmologists engaged by the Group to verify their
authenticity and assess their conditions and valuations as at
31 March 2023. We also engaged an independent
gemologist as auditor's expert to assess the authenticity and
evaluate the net realisable value of the selected items
assessed and valued by the gemologists engaged by the
Group. In addition, we evaluated the objectivity,
independence and competency of the independent

gemologists.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2023 of the Group other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company assists the directors of the Company in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors, use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats of safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Yu Ngong
Practising Certificate Number: P06734

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

ABW (=] Ll&ﬁlli%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31H LFE

2023 2022
2023 F 20226
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
B 5E THET FHIT
Revenue WA 7 86,880 62,647
Cost of sales SHER AN (79,053) (51,655)
Gross profit EF 7,827 10,992
Other losses, net HmEE - F5 9 (1,512) (736)
Reversal of allowance for expected credit ~ BERIEWRE R 2 FEHEE
losses ("ECL") on trade receivables, net EE([FEHREEEE])
Rt BER 20(a) 4,879 4,525
Reversal of/(provision for) allowance for B mE(5HE) Hi EU IR =X
ECL on other receivables, net ZTEEEEBERETE  20b) 14,909 (10,260)
Selling expenses HER X (361) (801)
Administrative expenses TEHE (16,204) (14,806)
Operating profit/(loss) LEHRA,(518) 9,538 (11,086)
Finance income Wi 26 217 5
Finance costs B 75 AR AN 26 (1,029) (4,381)
Finance costs, net AR - JF R (812) (4,376)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETEBANER,(B58) 10 8,726 (15,462)
Income tax expense FTiSfim X 12 = -
Profit/(loss) for the year attributableto AR TRKREGERE
equity holders of the Company BA(EE) 8,726 (15,462)
Earnings/(loss) per share BERERN(HA)
Basic and diluted HEARREE 13 HK$0.01 78 7T HK$(0.04) 7T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

»‘/T [ e Y

MW AR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

2023 2022
2023 £ 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FH&TT
Profit/(loss) for the year REERHM,(EE) 8,726 (15,462)
Other comprehensive income: HEemias
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to HEngEE D= Bm o BH
profit or loss
— Exchange difference on translation of — MEIRINEE I R 2
financial statements of MEHZER
foreign operations 973 157
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEEKE  REFE
for the year, net of tax 973 157
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for REFERQTRREN
the year attributable to 2mEkE(E) 858
equity holders of the Company 9,699 (15,305)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

TSR YN S

As at 31 March 2023 720233 H31H

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B 5T FHExT FHEIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMKRE 15 247 412
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 16 732 2,142
Investment in associates REEL QR E 18 = -
Financial asset at fair value through BAFEFAEMZE
other comprehensive income Wa=nemERE 27 = -
979 2,554
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 44,611 23,976
Trade and other receivables, deposits B &S TR K E b JEURBR 3K
and prepayments & MIERFRIE 20 13,000 31,994
Cash and cash equivalents ReRERRS 2] 41,261 23,585
98,872 79,555
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables and accruals FERTE R R E A R BR TR
FEETE R 22 18,755 14,405
Lease liabilities HEARE 23 758 1,282
Other borrowings HiER 24 2,000 29,776
21,513 45,463
Net current assets RBEEFE 77,359 34,092
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAE 78,338 36,646
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
L a BRI AR

Asat 31 March 2023 7202383 A31H

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B 5T FET FET
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 = 779
Net assets EEFE 78,338 35,867
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to equity holders AATRREMLES
of the Company
Share capital R A 25 12,786 6,393
Reserves [t 65,552 29474
Total equity RS 78,338 35,867

These consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 175 were approved S 2E1SEH 7 2SR AW ERRE R
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2023 and are 2023 6 A28 BEE E & # /& RIFEFE - I

signed on its behalf by: BTIEEREREE
Cheng Chi Kin Cheung Sze Ming
BrE REFS
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

FRERPTEF BITEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AR RER A B3R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ERRRREMN
Share
Share Share Translation option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
(&N BRADEE EXfEE BRERS ESy 71 @t
(Note 25) (Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Bt 25) GED) (it b) (Pt5EC) (Pt7Ed)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR FTAET THET TET THET
Balances at 1 April 2021 R20215F4F182
AR 5328 588,589 (2,704) 9,461 (554,729) 45945
Loss for the year NEEEE - - - - (15,462) (15,462)
Other comprehensive income:  E i 2 E A ¢
Exchange difference on BESFINETE S
translation of financial HERCERERE
statements of
foreign operations - - 157 - - 157
Total comprehensive loss REEZAEBELE
for the year - - 157 - (15,462) (15,305)
Lapse of share options (Note 28) B % ## 5 2% (P 5E 28) - - - (708) 708 -
Placing of new shares TR BLE (P F 25(2)
(Note 25(a)) 1,065 4,162 - - - 5227
Balances at 31 March 2022 M202%3A83182
e 6,393 592,751 (2,547) 8,753 (569,483) 35,867
Balances at 1 April 2022 R202F48182
RS 6,393 592,751 (2,547) 8,753 (569,483) 35,867
Profit for the year REEHF - - - - 8,726 8,726
Other comprehensive income:  E 4t 2 E 25 -
Exchange difference on BEFINETEI
translation of financial BRCERLER
statements of
foreign operations - - 973 - - 973
Total comprehensive income ARG [E 2 HW AR
for the year - - 973 - 8,726 9,699
Rights issue, net of expenses 3% + HIFRFI 2
(Note 25(b)) (B E 25(0)) 6,393 26,379 - - - 32,772
Balances at 31 March 2023 2023383102
b33 12,786 619,130 (1,574) 8,753 (560,757) 78,338
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

Share premium account of the Company represents the excess of the proceeds received over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of certain subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from
that of presentation currency.

Share option reserve represents the portion of grant date fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options of the Company.

The Peoples Republic of China (the “PRC") laws and regulations require companies registered
in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which are to be appropriated from the net
profit (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their respective
statutory financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory
reserves are created for specific purposes. PRC company is required to appropriate 10% of
statutory net profits to statutory surplus reserves, and before distribution of its post-tax profits
of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of
the statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus
reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the companies, to expand the companies’
production operations, or to increase the capital of the companies. In addition, a company
may make further discretional contribution to the surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
statutory surplus reserves is provided as the PRC subsidiaries continued to make losses in their
operations.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31H LFE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FET FH&T
Cash flows from operating activities REERELECRERE
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSFLATETR (EE) 8,726 (15,462)
Adjustments for: B THESIBVEL 2 FEE -
Finance income B st e 26 (217) (5)
Finance costs BT FE A AR 26 1,029 4,381
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREEITE
plant and equipment 10 191 189
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRABEEEINE 10 1,234 1,166
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMRB ARz W 31 - (511)
Loss on early termination of leases REKIFHE 2 F518 9 105 -
Reversal of allowance for ECL BOEKESR 2 EHREE
on trade receivables, net EriERE - FE 10 (4,879) (4,525)
Reversal of/(provision for) allowance for B, (5HR) £ EkER
ECL on other receivables R BHEEBERE 10 (14,909) 10,260
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss  (#[E) /sHEEFZERIE
on inventories, net EiERE TR 10 (11,400) 1,459
Impairment loss on property, plant and ) EN =N TP
equipment and right-of-use assets HREEERERRE 9 - 4
Operating cash flows before working  #EE LB BT 2 K&
capital changes HeRE (20,120) (3,044)
Changes in working capital: EBEEREY
Inventories FE (9,431) (520)
Trade and other receivables, JE IS 31 K A UK
deposits and prepayments R e RIBN A 3,665 3,037
Trade and other payables and accruals JES &R N E b R BRFR
KEER 4,366 1,636
Net cash (used in)/generated from REER(ER) EBEZ
operating activities BEFRE (21,520) 1,109
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023F3A31HILFE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E THET FH&T
Cash flows from investing activities RETHEEZEESHRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 88 E Y12 -« B MR E 15 (26) (46)
Interests received E%UT'J 26 217 5
Proceeds from settlement of convertible ENOEBERER
loan notes and relevant interest recorded  PT{SR0IE R st A B
under other receivables FE U BR SR A AR A A2 35,113 -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of HENBRRIEELZ
a subsidiary WEMmEFE 31 - (19)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETHEE (FA) 2
investing activities HEFEE 35,304 (60)
Cash flows from financing activities METHEEZRENE
Proceeds from rights issue, net of expenses MK FTISFIE » HIBRF X 25(b) 32,772 -
Placing of new shares, net of expenses A% 1 - BRI 2 25(a) = 5,227
Interest paid to other borrowings HEmEEZENHE - (3,207)
Interest paid to lease liabilities HEBGE ENTE 26 (67) 79)
Payment for principal portion of HEaBAREID 2T
lease liabilities (1,232) (679)
Proceeds from borrowings BEESHAE 2,000 20
Repayments of borrowings BEEE (29,776) (3,000)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BMETEEE(FH) 2
financing activities HEEEE 3,697 (1,718)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRERBESEM
cash equivalents GRA) ZBE 17,481 (669)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof  F#2ZHE & MERRE
the year 23,585 24,424
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes AINEE PEE R B 2 fL 2 195 (170)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, 4 2 IR & M HRIRE
represented by bank balances and cash (RHIBTESRNIBESRR) 41,261 23,585
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Ao g R Bk

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31H LFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”, collectively with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13
May 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s principal place of business is Room 906, 9/F., Wings
Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) the purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesale distribution of pearls and jewellery products
and (ii) the operation of strategic investment and financial services
segment, with the objective to include investments in real estate agency
business and real estate investment funds and other potential
investment opportunities.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, in the opinion of directors of the
Company, the ultimate holding company and the ultimate controlling
parties of the Company were Pacific Wish Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and Mr. Chan Vincent
Wing Sing and Ms. Hui Ka Man Emily, respectively.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 17 October 2014.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured at
fair values at the end of reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company. All
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
stated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions have
been used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates.

ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs

Amended HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted, for the first time, the
following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
accounting period beginning on 1 April 2022.

Amendments to AG 5 (Revised) ~ Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

— Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or the disclosure set out in
the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

3. ADOPTION OF AMENDED HKFRSs
(CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

At the date of this report, the Group has not early adopted any of the
following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contacts?
October 2020 and February
2022)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5°
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liabilities in a Sale and
Leaseback?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the related impact
of adopting the above new and revised HKFRSs. So far, it has concluded
that the above new and revised HKFRSs will be adopted at the respective
effective dates and the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on these consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2023F3A31HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently adopted to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(U]

Consolidation

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquirers date carrying value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in the consolidated

profit or loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquire over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in

the consolidated income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from intercompany transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes directly attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investees net assets
including goodwill.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or
decreased to recognise the investors share of the profit or loss of
the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group's investments
in associated entities includes goodwill identified on acquisition.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and the Group's
share of the net fair value of the associates identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of
the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted for using
equity method in the consolidated income statement.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Associates (Continued)

©

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investors interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates of
interests are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of the year, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the end of reporting period;

(b)  income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

() all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. WAREFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (d) 3k - W st

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful lives from the date
on which they are available for use and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements 25% t0 33%
Plant and machinery 20% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%

An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount. The assets residual values and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
other losses net in the consolidated income statement.
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Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZRER QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the financial assets.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") are added to the fair value of the financial assets, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost

All recognised financial assets of the Group are measured at
amortised cost on the basis of the Group’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVOCI:

—  the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

—  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL,
except that at the date of initial adoption/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combination adopted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31H LFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (Continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in other
comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVPL when the financial asset is
(i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as
part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held
for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term;

— on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are the Group;

— manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

— itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVOCI
as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

During year ended 31 March 2022, financial assets at FVPL were
stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss, which had been
entirely disposed during that year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments at amortised cost

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents).

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12 months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31H LFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group'’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for significant
balances or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
grouping based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to past default experience and current past due exposure of the
debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12 months ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. WAREFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued) () SRErE(HE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SRS ERME ()
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) EERBEEZEME)
In particular, the following information is taken into account BEEms Al EERR
when assessing whether credit risk has increased REBEENE - €2 F I
significantly: TEHR

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a
low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

()

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined

atinitial recognition.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater
for cases where evidence of significant increases in credit
risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
and other receivables are each assessed as a separate
group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors;

Nature of collaterals for the receivables; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each separate group continues
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12 months ECL at the current reporting
date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

(®

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or when
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowing at amortised cost, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value.

The Group's financial liabilities comprise mainly trade and other
payables and accruals, other borrowings, lease liabilities and an
amount due to immediate holding company.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Non-derivative financial liabilities measurement

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair
value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(®

(h)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated selling expenses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

(j) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are
measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to

passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

(k) Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to
the extent it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(i) Current tax

The current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts

expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(i)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except in respect of taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, the carried forward
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Current and deferred tax (Continued)

(iii) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to

settle the balances on a net basis.

(1) Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in

equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance

obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. HREGFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(m) &FEHWEA (8)

(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Sale of goods

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of pearls and jewellery
product is generally recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods has been transferred, being when the goods have been
shipped to the specific location (upon delivery of goods) and the
customer acceptance has been obtained, being when the
customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC
based employees of the Group participate in various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ salaries.

These plans are a state-managed retirement benefits scheme
being operated by the local PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute 20% (2022: 6% to 20%) of the average basic
salary to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
PRC based employees payable under the plans described above.
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the PRC government.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Retirement benefits scheme (Continued)

(0)

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance ("MPF Scheme"), which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The
contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
relevant aggregate income subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month, effective from 1 June 2014. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement
schemes are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of its
employees (including the directors).

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share options
are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted. Their value is
appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets).

All services received is ultimately recognised as an expense in
profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions apply, or
recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share
options granted vest immediately unless the expense qualifies for
recognition as asset, with a corresponding increase in “Share
option reserve” within equity. If service or non-market
performance conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the
number of share options expected to vest. Non-market
performance and service conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of share options that are expected to vest.
Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that
the number of share options expected to vest differs from
previous estimates. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(0)

(p)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where a grant of share options is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the grant is recognised immediately. This includes
any grant where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve and the proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the
nominal value of the share issued are reallocated to share capital
with any excess being recorded as share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand- alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., WAREGFIBORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued) (p) M (4)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
(Continued)

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(p) Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and

the lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the

lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less

any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate

the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. WAREFHEORBEE (4)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Leases (Continued) (p) HME ()

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(@) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group's and the Company's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

(r) Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors, which are the Group’s chief
operating decision-maker for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group's business components and for their
review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group’s major

product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable and operating
segments: (i) sales of pearls and jewellery and (ii) strategic
investment and financial services. Each of these operating
segments is managed separately as each of the product and
service lines requires different resources as well as marketing

approaches.

All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.
The measurement policies the Group use for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs. Segment results represents
the profit/(loss) incurred by each segment and hence is arrived at
without allocation of certain income and expenses (including
finance costs, corporate income and expense and income tax

expense).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties

(@)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

U]

(i)

(iif)

as control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

®

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person'’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures the fair value of its convertible loan notes
and unlisted property fund at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

®

(w)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to these fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 ~— based on Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)

or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

Level 3 — based on Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (that is

unobservable inputs)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants are recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in consolidated income statement and
presented as “other (losses)/gains, net” in the year in which they
become receivable.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the
directors of the Company to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the adoption of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The management estimates the amount of loss allowance based on the
credit risk of the customers, the Group then uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar
credit risk characteristic. The provision matrix is based on the Group's
historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable, and available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward looking information are
considered. In addition, certain balances of trade receivables and those
credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimates.

The above assessment requires management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying amount of
receivables and credit loss allowance/reversal in the period in which the
estimate has been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables (Continued)

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2023, the net carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately HK$7,016,000 (2022: HK$5,667,000). The management
of the Company determined that net reversal of allowance for ECL on
trade receivables were recognised in consolidated profit or loss
amounting to approximately HK$4,879,000 (2022: HK$4,525,000) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (Note 20(a)).

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated selling expense. The Group would evaluate
ageing analysis as to identify the slow-moving inventories. The Group
would also estimate the net realisable value of inventories based
primarily on the latest market price, current market conditions and
subsequent selling price, and make allowance for slow-moving
inventories when the Group identified items of inventories which have a
net realisable value that is lower than its carrying amount. As at 31 March
2023, there are new type of gemstone, jades, being recorded and
included in the finished goods with an aggregate gross carrying amount
of approximately HK$43,800,000 with provision for impairment of
approximately HK$7,333,000, which are recorded based on the net
realisable value evaluated by the Group with assistance from
independent professional gemmologists engaged by the Group.

Net realisable value could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitors actions in response to severe industry
cycles, such differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and
provision charge/reverse in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

The Group reassessed the estimation at the end of each reporting
period. As at 31 March 2023, the net carrying amount of inventories was
approximately HK$44,611,000 (2022: HK$23,976,000). The management
of the Company determined that net reversal of impairment losses on
inventories was recognised in consolidated profit or loss amounting to
approximately HK$11,400,000 (2022: provision for approximately
HK$1,459,000) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (Note 19).
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Allowance for ECL on time deposit placed in a
licensed financial institution

As at 31 March 2023, a time deposit of approximately HK$23,800,000
(2022: Nil) was placed in a licensed financial institution with no recent
history of default. The short term time deposits earn interest at the
respective short term time deposits rates.

The Group considered the time deposit is renewed and rolled forward
with a short maturity in term of three months, and considered the
licensed financial institution is creditworthy, therefore, no allowance for
ECL on the time deposit had been provided during the year and as at
the reporting date.

Current and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in
the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group'’s major financial instruments include unlisted property fund,
trade and other receivables and deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
other borrowings, trade and other payables and accruals, lease liabilities
and an amount due to immediate holding company. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments, which include market risk
(foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk, and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. Save for credit risk, the Group does not have written risk
management policies and guidelines. However, the board of directors
(the "Board") meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures to
manage the Group's exposure to different risks arising from the use of
financial instruments. Generally, the Group employs conservative
strategies regarding its risk management. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
United States of America (the “USA”), the United Kingdom
(the "UK") and Europe (the "EUR") with most of the
transactions denominated and settled in HKS, United States
dollars ("US$"), and Renminbi ("RMB"). No foreign currency
risk has been identified for the financial assets and financial
liabilities denominated in RMB, which is the functional
currencies of the subsidiaries in the PRC to which these
transactions relate. The Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk primarily arises from certain financial
instruments including convertible loan notes, trade and
other receivables and deposits, cash and cash equivalents
and trade payables which are denominated in USS, RMB,
GBP and Euro. During the years, the Group did not have
foreign currency hedging policy but management
continuously monitors the foreign exchange exposure.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(U]

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

6.

As USS is pegged to HKS, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HKS exchange rates. No

sensitivity analysis in respect of the Group' s financial assets
and liabilities denominated in USS is disclosed as in the
opinion of directors, such sensitivity analysis does not give

additional value in view of insignificant movement in the

USS/HKS exchange rates as at reporting date.

The following table summarises the Group's major financial

assets and financial liabilities denominated in currencies

other than the functional currencies of the respective group

companies at the reporting date.

S 5 Dl B

(a) Ty EBE (%)

(i SMERR(E)

B H AR R OR (47)

MRETEBITEE - AL
BEMXTTH BT ZERA
SHREMNERES - WE
BEARBUETEZARE
BremEERABZHZ
Bot REARESRA
EREERERBETLE
TERTEBEEAREZ(
RSREN T EEESME(E -

TERBIINKEBPAKE
UNEEBRRZINEEE A
S EBEFEZIESRE
ERTBAE -

Expressed in HK$'000

BFETL5
2023 2022
2023 20225

RMB Euro GBP RMB Euro GBP

AR B HgE ARE BT HEE

Deposits and other receivables %4 J E s e I B 3% 139 - - - - 20628
Cashand cash equivalents & RERRE 29 238 = 763 220 1
Trade payables 2 _ (61) —* (314) (253) -
Overall net exposure R RFE 168 177 = 449 (15) 20629
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. s E ke A B H OB R BUR (%)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) THEEBE ()
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SNERME(E)
The following table indicates the approximate change in TRERANER 7 FE
the Group's profit/(loss) for the year and equity in response N (EE) RiER By e
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange B - A g5 B & fESNE[E R
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the ZEETREEE) (ANEB R TR
reporting date. SHEAREABRERRR) -
2023 2022
2023 WNE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
inforeign  Effecton in foreign Effect on
exchange  profit for Effect  exchange loss for Effect
rates theyear  on equity rates the year on equity
SHEER # SN B E3) Hign
R/ EEERF B H/ FEBE PE
(TF&) A% A% (TF&) LR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT THT
RMB AR +10% 17 17 +10% 45 45
-10% (17) (17) -10% (45) (45)
Euro BT +10% 18 18 +10% 2 2
-10% (18) (18) -10% 2 2
GBP REE +10% - - +10% 2,063 2,063
-10% - - -10% (2,063) (2,063)
* amount less than HK$1,000 * SE AR 1,00087T
The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that B E 9 AT TR 35 S E FE &
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the 2@] Eﬁéﬁﬁﬂ: HEfEE & KA
reporting dates and that all other variables remain constant. EHMASEREZREETEM
EE -
The stated changes represent management's assessment of it = B ?‘5 I8 [ 2T 1 YN FE
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over |: 7? EEE N —AEERSE
the period until the next annual reporting date. A positive H Hf HA S Z/\ I8 0] gL &

figure represents a decrease in loss or increase in equity and
vice versa for figures in brackets.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered
to be effective.

EBR R EER D iﬁé/\i‘
e mESEAZBFAER -

AEEEEIINERER 2B
BEEREZF URAEFBHK
KA -



Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZRER QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ok o B B i M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)  Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Bank balances at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk while
the convertible loan notes included in other receivables and
other borrowings carried at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of

changes in market interest rates.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate

exposure should the need arise.

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest

rates.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group since prior years are considered to be

effective.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. AR B P H B R BUR (4)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (b) 15 & B

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fall to discharge its obligation under the terms
of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk mainly arises from trade and other receivables, deposits
and cash and cash equivalents.

Trade receivables

Most of the Group’s customers do not have independent credit
rating. Trade receivables are continuously monitored by assessing
the credit quality of the customers, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors. Credit limits of
customers are reviewed periodically. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management of the Company has to comply with
the credit and risk management policies approved by the Board of
the Company, established credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount for each individual trade receivables including
reviewing the credit history, settlement patterns, subsequent
settlement and ageing analysis in determining the allowance for
doubtful debts and ascertain that the adequate allowance for
doubtful debts are made for irrecoverable amount at the reporting
date. In this regard, the board of directors considers that the
Group's credit risk is effectively controlled and significantly
reduced.

The Group adopted the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit loss which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables.

Management assessed the expected loss on the trade receivable
with significant balances individually by estimation based on the
historical credit loss experience, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date.

EERRESRMIT AT AREEE
SRMTAZERETELE  BHAX
SESBMBERZER

FERBRERRNEREREEM
MR - e MRS REFRR

N
S

Bl E R

AEBRED FPHEEFEMN
B BREERBBEIZEFEER
g BREEPBHRR  BELRN
HtbRE - EREER - AR 7
EHMBMEPZEERSE - RRAE
EERR  ARRERECETE
ApREFSHEZ EERARE
BHREK - BIFEERE - FEFEL
REMEEIRT - AMRIREURE
TTENEUCBIIER 1o - REE
RS B HE= B B IR E R S 5K
ZAKE2E BREEHNEERE
e ENER - RREMNMRED
I ABETE RER B - AR
A EEEELRAREKERR
et E  BEFERA A%
Bz EERRDEABUIES RARE
B o

AREBRMNBCIEAELIERE
EEREE - ZEEIERE
WEREREZHEREEERR
e
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HAHE B A B H B S BOR (A1)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 FJE B (4
Trade receivables (Continued) B E R (&)
As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses EEREBEERREERN —3F
geographical areas to assess the impairment for its remaining o AEERAMEFHESRTE
customers because these remaining customers consist of a large FRRE REAZEHTEFE
number of small customers with common risk characteristics that BRAREAEAFRRAREHN/NBE
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts B MZERBEBERENARMES
due in accordance with the contractual terms. The Group's trade BIES DGR A RE R TIES
receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared e o REEMEWRSERTIZREH
credit risk characteristics by reference to geographical area, past & BFENSEBRMNEEARRES
default experience and current past due exposure of the debtors. HERBEERELEEZER R
These rates are adjusted to reflect the differences between the BB RR R D48 o 32 S E R T
economic conditions during the period over which the historical AR ML SR iR 1 BUR BRI O A
data has been collected and the Group'’s view of economic A EAREFBHERAZERRE
conditions over the credit risk characteristics of the debtors. Such f;kél’j,i«f@ﬂj(,ﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁ;uZFEj =R -
forward-looking information is used by management of the AAREIEEFRAZEREEER
Company to assess both the current as well as the forecast EWEBC#&%: B H 2 38 B Ak K & B
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The grouping is AR M e DT RAANREIERE
reqularly reviewed by management of the Company to ensure FHSE - UWRENEEETEE
relevant information about specific debtors is updated. BAZBBER -
The following table shows the Group's expected loss rates (shown TRFIRF 2023 F 2022 % 3 A 31
on a weighted average basis) adopted to the ageing analysis of A AEBEHEREFRERAAR
trade receivables, based on due dates, as at 31 March 2023 and ZERES DT ER A 2 FA BA RS 18 R (IR
2022: IREFHEAESITR) -
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
BAER XREAE EERE IR FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET FTET
At 31 March 2023 R2023%3H31H
Ageing based on the due date 1R IEZIH B Z Bk
Not overdue R Hf - - - =
Overdue by: penk-ii
1to 30 days 1£30H 2.13% 6,255 (133) 6,122
3110 90 days 31290H 8.12% 973 (79) 894
91 to 180 days 91&180H 100% 4,984 (4,984) -
181 to 365 days 181 & 365 H 100% 739 (739) -
Over 365 days BiB365H 100% 6,793 (6,793) -

19,744 (12,728) 7,016
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

o A B R
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

6. A% )EbEE B H AR X BOR (4)

(b) 15 &b (%)

Trade receivables (Continued) EERER ()
Gross Net
Expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
BHBE EEEAE ity REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET FET
At 31 March 2022 M2022%3H31A8
Ageing based on the due date 1R IERIHI B Z Bk
Not overdue KR 0.13% 297 ¥ 297
Overdue by: B
1to 30 days 1£30H 0.24% 3,852 ©) 3,843
3110 90 days 31290 H 042% 1,533 6) 1,527
91 to 180 days 912 180H 100% 660 (660) -
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 100% 362 (362) -
Over 365 days 838365 H 100% 16,602 (16,602) -
23,306 (17,639) 5,667

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk and
expected credit losses of trade receivables as at 31 March 2023 are
set out in Note 20(a).

* amount less than HK$ 1,000

As at 31 March 2023, the largest and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 99% and 100% (2022: 87% and 99%)
of the Group's trade receivables balance respectively. The directors
of the Company considered the credit risk from this concentration
was not significant as these counterparties were sizeable and well-
established companies in the jewellery industry with sound
financial position, one of which is a company listed in Hong Kong.
All of these counterparties have showrooms or retail stores in
Hong Kong or elsewhere in the world.

BRARWEZNR2023F3A3182
FEERBEEHEEBEBEBEE
BRI 20() ©

* SREDR1,00087TT

R2023F3A31H BANAAR
EForlthAEBRKE REHL
999% K% 100% (20224 : 87% &
99%) c ANREERBEEAMS
EhZEERBITTEXN  RAS
ZEHFHARKETERARRE
g EREREBERITZA
A HEF-—HMAREELTZA
B FIEZSEHFIHARE AN
EM R EERHEXTEL
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables

The Group uses historical default experience, past experience, and
also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information, as appropriate, to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. As disclosed in
Note 20(b)(i), certain other receivables of HK$20,628,000 as at 31
March 2022 were due from the debtor and its wholly owned-
subsidiary were well-established multi-national companies in the
realty agency industry in the UK, the directors of the Company
assessed the default rate of the debtor and the recovery rate by
referencing the international credit rating firm after considering
the updated financial information of the debtor, the progress of
the debt and financing arrangements of the debtors as well as the
expected GDP growth rate. In view of such, the directors of the
Company had provided the expected credit loss on outstanding
principal and interest receivables of approximately GBP1,540,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$15,836,000) and GBP36,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$370,000) respectively as at 31
March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the entire principal amount
of these other receivables and relevant interest were fully
collected in January 2023, relevant accumulated allowance in the
amount of approximately HK$15,211,000 was reversed and
recorded as reversal of allowance for ECL on other receivables,.
Relevant details were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 18 January 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents

In respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group will place them
in banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. Management of the
Company considers the bank balances are short-term in nature
and the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

6.

St 5 Dl B A B I R B BB ()

(b)

o B B (%)
B& & H At FE YR K

REBFEABTENES  BAEL
BRABZAERBRERELE
B (EA) FEEERR B VPR
RUAREE D EELIN - M+
200)()FTHEE - 2022938318 -
ETERHNEMERER
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2EWB AR AREBERIET
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It R RABIEEE R 2022493 A 31
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HEs (FEE 4937000078 7T) °
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT S0 % DR\ B 45 PR H BE R BOR (%)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

6.

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 FJE B (4

Convertible loan notes

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding principal amount was yet

THRERERRERE

M2022F3HA31H  HAEBEARS

settled and reclassified as other receivables. The board of directors BOAENMTET D EAEME
considers the other receivable classified from convertible loan R -ZEE=eRA GRBRKRER
notes as credit-impaired and detail credit risk assessment is Tﬁ%é%ﬁ’“*ﬁz,ﬁ\{wﬁiqﬂzﬁﬁ K IR
included in the “deposit and other receivables” as above. FERE  FANEERBRTESE

REX F?ﬁ@&ﬁfﬁ%ﬂ&ﬂ%ml

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the entire principal amount Eéﬁﬁ 2023F3A3IALEFE - %
of this other receivable and relevant interest were fully collected in SHEMEWRZAEHBAE MIER

January 2023, relevant accumulated allowance in the amount of
approximately HK$15,211,000 was reversed and recorded as
reversal of allowance for ECL on other receivables. Relevant details
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18
January 2023.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:

BB R2023F1 A2 U E - 17

B 2FEEE S RE4915,211,0007 7T

B e - 3058k A E R U R 5K

ZIBEE B EIE RHE A - FERE A

kkEEEHHE2OZ3¢1 A18 HAAK
BN

TRAVAETEMEEBRTG
MASEEREEZEERR

External Gross carrying
2023 credit rating 12 month or lifetime ECL amount
2023 HIBEEFR NREARZHEPEESE PREIA(E
HK$’000
THET
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHERATTEZSRERE
Trade receivables (provision matrix) N/A Lifetime ECL 7,228
FEME R (B ) i A 2 HIRHEEER
Lifetime credit-impaired 12,516
2 HMEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 1,309
Be REAM EUERK TiE A 1218 AFE A E B &R
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 17,461
HRITAEER =EER 1218 AR A E B &R
Time deposit in financial institution High credit-rating 12 month ECL 23,800
T REENTE BFR =EEFR 2ERAEBREEERE
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(©)

Convertible loan notes (Continued)

6. A% )EbEE B H AR X BOR (4)

(b) 15 &b (%)

TERBREMRERE (R

External 12 month or Gross carrying
2022 credit rating lifetime ECL amount
2022 HINBEERIR EAXKZHEHREEERE FREAE
HK$'000
FAT
Financial assets at amortised costs
REBHERATEZSRERE
Trade receivables (provision matrix) N/A Lifetime ECL 5,682
FEUE R (B R ) i >R E BB
Lifetime credit-impaired 17,624
2 HEERE
Deposits and other receivables N/A 12 month ECL 856
e R E b AR K iEA 1218 AR EE RS
Convertible loan notes and interest Caa-C Lifetime credit-impaired 36,834
receivables included in other receivables
STAHEMBURARRN AT MR ERERE  CaaC 2HEERE
K FEHH 2
Bank balances High credit-rating 12 month ECL 23,585

RITAEER IRITAEER

The credit policies have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group's exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk related to the risk that the Group will not able to
meet its obligation associated with its financial liabilities. In the
management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows in the short and long term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to have been effective in managing
liquidity risk.

12{E A FRHE SRR

AEEZEEBRREERSZF - A
RARERBRAEUB A EEREEE 2
EERBRSIEREKFE -
(c) VE)E &k
nBE R EAREREREITH
ERERMABEZEENRRER -
EEERDESERTE - ANEME
ERPEFEEERARENNES
RERREKF  BAEEZ 2
RftE RERSRENMRE
LA Z

AEEBzRDECRRCERS
FURSBRBREREERS
xRk -
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6. A% )EbEE B H AR X BOR (4)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued) (o) TiEhE 4k ()
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at TRETRPGEARAEREMNE
the end of reporting period of the Group's trade and other AR EMENMERRESER &
payables and accruals, other borrowings and lease liabilities based HEEMEEEEZHT AL
on undiscounted cash flows (include interest payments computed B HAREABBEERES RS
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the (BIEFERE LN E (HAZEF
end of reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be KYPRMEEARZF|RAE 75 B
required to pay. ) REAEEAHEREE &
FHHFE -
The Group's financial liabilities have contractual maturities as AEBSHEBEZANIEHRA W
follows: N
On demand Between
or less than 1and 2
1 year years Total
RERR
PR—F —EWF st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FAT T FHAT
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H
Trade and other payables and JERER R EMERRER
other accruals MEAMERTE R 17,916 = 17,916
Lease liabilities HEBE 769 - 769
Other borrowings (Note) HiEE (M) 2,000 = 2,000
20,685 - 20,685
At 31 March 2022 202253 A31H
Trade and other payables and JEN G E b B BR TR
other accruals REAMEER 13,649 - 13,649
Lease liabilities HE&aE 1351 791 2,142
Other borrowings (Note) HiEE (M) 29,776 - 29,776
44,776 791 45,567
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

As at 31 March 2022, other borrowings of HK$29,776,000 with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the “on demand or less than 1 year”
time band in the above maturity analysis. Taking into account of the Group's
financial position, the directors of the Company did not believe that it was
probable that the lender would exercise the discretionary rights to demand

immediate repayment.

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of these other
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$2,000,000 with fixed term of one
year without repayment on demand clause (2022: HK$29,776,000 with a
repayment on demand clause). The directors of the Company consider that
such other borrowings will be repaid within one year (2022: one year) after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements. As at 31 March 2023, the undiscounted
cash outflows amount to approximately HK$27,776,000 (2022:
HK$31,176,000). Further, the Company has completed Rights Issue on 12 May
2023 (Note 25(b)), the net proceeds (after deducting the estimated rights
issues commission and other related expenses and professional fees of
approximately HK$2,482,000) of approximate HK$32,772,000 from the Rights
Issues had been used for repayment of the Group’s loans and general
working capital for the Group.

(d) Fair value estimation

(U]

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade and other receivables, deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, accruals and other
borrowings. The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities
approximate their fair values at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

6.

St 5 Dl B A B I R B BB ()

(©

ff

2y

(d)

(i

T B ()

D R202F3A318  EEREREER

&3 2 & T E b {8 B 29,776,000 4 7T
PR EMFHE TR A HRERR
SPR—F]HER - Eet RAEE 28
Bk - ARREEWTHEEERA
1S AT RETTIE B S A 2 Sk BIRFE R -

R2023F38318 ZEHMBEEZ
R T 48 B Y 4 2,000,0005%8 7T + [&E E B
RAE—F BTAREIREEKR
(20224 : 29,776,000 JT AL 3Z B3k (&
BIER) - ARREERA ZEH
BB BIRIEER G ETH 2 BEE
BHBRREHRE —F (20226 -
—F)NEE - R2023F3A318 -
RERIRIR &7 L 4 A 27,776,000 7T
(2022 4 : 31,176,000 7T ) ° ULSN » A&
ARIB 202395 A 12 A FEACHERL (KT
F25(b)) + ERARATIS RIEFEE (FBR 1S
TR RS R MBS REEE
FA #92,482,000 4 7T 1% ) #732,772,000 74
TEAREEAEENERRABER
KE-BEEES -

AR

YHRAFEABZERT
H

WIkERAFEFECESRT
BB iR E SR H A U
BX -Ze BHaRFERR
& EHERREMEMSER
KB ERAREMEE -
ErXGEZEAEBEHER
20234 NM2022%3 8318 2
NERSE -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into
three levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial
assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

6. A% )EbEE B H AR X BOR (4)

(@) A PAathE ()

(ii)

BAFEFEZEMIA

B 5 15 R AR R B IR 1R 0 VR B
MBMEEBEZEREENR
BEZRAFEELIZ2EDS

HRBREABELESRE
ENBBEZAFEEMER
ME 28 ABIRNEYE A 5
BE SeREERAED
DRZEAR - 2 TFERE
DA SR

HREENAEEER
M5 ZRE (CREFHE)
(B18) -

BREENE 1B 2RE
Gh BESAEBZATEH
REE (BMER) sk
(BIR B B1%) @ A BUK
(F28) »

W IRIE R B R T 5 8L
EMETCEENARE
N8 G IRIR 3
BABUR) (F34) -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial assets is categorised in its entirety is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The financial assets measured at fair value in
the consolidated statement of financial position are
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

6. A% )EbEE B H AR X BOR (4)

(d)

AP R ()

(i) BAFEFEZEMIA
(&)

EeMEEZEY  AF
BERZKFERE A FE
AAREREAREZEEBA
BURIKF - RERA MISAOR
RARAFEAEZERE
EDNIDRATHRFES

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E14R 24 E3R et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Financial assets EREE FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2023 R2023%3H31H
Financial assets at FVOC| AT EFAREMEER
ez RVEEE
— Interest in Campfire Group  — B Campfire 52 [& 2
(detailed in Note 27) Rz (FFR ML 27) - - - -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ERE EDF E3MR it
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
Financial assets TREE FAT FHET FHAT FHT
At 31 March 2022 R20226F3A31H
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFESARMEE
W EBEE -
— Interest in Campfire Group  — K Campfire 5£[& 2~
(detailed in Note 27) Mz (FER MR 27) - - - -

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised
within level 3 of fair value hierarchy:

RATESHE I BHEZ A
T EHE
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.

Fo 7 B A B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value estimation (Continued) (d)

(ii)  Financial instruments measured at fair value

St 5 Dl B A B I R B BB ()

AP R ()

(i) BAFEFEZEMIA

(Continued) (&)
Unlisted
Campfire Group property fund Total
Campfie £ E  JELMYEES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TiET

Carrying amounts as at

R2021F4 818

1 April 2021 ZREE - - _
Disposal (Note 27) HE (fEE27) - - -
Carrying amounts as at R20293A31H

31 March 2022 ZREE - - _

The methods and valuation techniques used for the
purpose of measuring fair values are unchanged compared
to the previous reporting periods.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfer between levels of
fair value hierarchy as of the date of the events or change in
circumstances that cause the transfer. There have been no
significant transfers between the levels in the reporting
periods.

The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 use
valuation technique based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data.

Information about level 3 fair value measurement

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the fair value of investment
in Campfire Group determined by reference to the latest
financial position and performance of the Campfire Group
and the current operating situation under co-working
spaces industry, please refer to Note 27 for the
management assessment.

HSE R E AL E - phE
ERFEERZITAREE
Ao mEEE) -

ZISE@ZLBZ%%EA%I?&%%
Z%#‘JZI RELE RRER

NFEFHRcEZ2ERE - R
BERHERCHLEEX

-
REENBEREIRZEHME
EFREREREAZE (XL
FERABRMISHRIE) 2
{E el o
BEHFEIRLFHEAEZE
#

2023 F N 20223 A31H
¥ Campfire L Bl B 0 A F
8752 & Campfire £ B & T
KB TSRO R IR - A R HE
ZTEEEITEMBITLSE
MRET  BEEET R
263F5E27 -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. W5 e B A BE H AR R BUK (4])
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e) Financial instruments by category (e) N # 43 iy 4x fd TH
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of HEPVBRRART 2V 2 REER
financial position relate to the following categories of financial LTemEERSRAEBEENA
assets and financial liabilities: 7 :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Financial assets as per consolidated FENBRRRFAIEHEE

statement of financial position

Financial assets at FVOC| BAFEFAEMZETRE
TREE
— Interest in Campfire Group (Note 27) — F Campfire £ B 7 %
(fF5E27) = -
Financial assets measured at amortised cost: RSN E 2 SR A E
— Trade and other receivables and — RN E R E A E U IR X
deposits (Note 20) Kig® (MizF20) 8,023 27,151
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) —HeRkERRS (HFE21) 41,261 23,585
Total HET 49,284 50,736

Financial liabilities as per consolidated #FR& KR AERFAIERHEE

statement of financial position

Financial liability measured at HHERAGTECeRmAE
amortised costs:
— Trade and other payables and other — RN EREEMEMSRR R
accruals (Note 22) HEabrEst 2R (B 22) 17,916 13,649
— Lease liabilities (Note 23) —HEEE (MHE23) 758 2,061
— Other borrowings (Note 24) — BB E (fsE24) 2,000 29,776

Total 4act 20,674 45,486
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

REVENUE

Revenue from sales of pearls and jewellery represents the amounts
received and receivable from customers in respect of goods sold less
returns and allowances.

Interest income on financial assets is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable.

7.

LN

HERRMKRBEZWAERERE KRR
RN B P 2 SRIRBRE MATHI -

SEEEYFBKATIESE YK EE
A% B LA P A R IR A 2 o B
5o

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows: FROEAZAEBRALT :
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHExT FH&T
Sales of pearls and jewellery from contracts with AR B BhER 2 &8 B 15 & 28|
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 FBISRBEEACIHEL R LKE
recognised at a point in time ERPEHBA 85,230 59,942
— Sales of pearls —HEE I 6,721 4,956
— Design and sales of jewellery products — RETRIEERBEMR 78,509 54,986
Revenue from other sources outside the scope & 78 B 753 &5 2 B 55 15 55 &6 [E 9b
of HKFRS 15 Z EADIOR 2 WA
Interest income from strategic investment RIS E MRS T B YA
and financial services 1,650 2,705

86,880 62,647
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. ik

The Group's operating segments have been determined based on the
information reported to the executive directors, being the chief
operating decision maker of the Group, that are used for performance
assessment and to make strategic decisions. The Group's operating
businesses are structured and managed separately according to the
nature of their operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business
unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other operating segments. The
Group currently has two operating segments:

(@)  Sales of pearls and
jewellery products

Design and sales of jewellery products,
and sales of pearls
(b)  Strategic investment Real estate financial assets investments

and financial services and investments in associates

The executive directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of segment results. This measurement
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure and of corporate
expenses from the operating segments. Other information provided to
the executive directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated financial statements.

AEBZEEDMERBRANTES (A
FEEXZEERRN)REZEHNE
o BRERTAEFERRELELR
BEIERTE - ARBZEEEBTIRER
EBnE LRt En KRB ERR
BUEE - AREREEDMIEREE
fn KBRS 2 RERER TS EAL - HE R &
B ¥R A BN H 4 & 75 &F o AN 5 B3R B
B M ER D -

@ HEDKE REAMREEREEM
KEEMm MR HED T

b) HEKREN RFBHESBEERER
TSRS REEREZIRE

HITEFREDHFRAZFTENHEE
DERIR - W EEENBEEED B
ZHEEUEIHRERASLZEE - 12
HIRTEEZHEMERIRELRS M
BER-BzHhAFE -
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment revenue, results, assets,
liabilities and other selected financial information by operating segments
are as follows:

53 WK R (4)

AEBRELDHE D 2 A 2D G
ARE BE BEREMBETHH
BRZamT

Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYKRR EBRRER
BREER B 7 AR A5 st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
AT FHT T
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3 831 HLLFE
Segment revenue DEBA 85,230 1,650 86,880
Segment (loss)/profit SE(ER), (1,033) 9,616 8,583
Finance income BRI S 217
Finance costs B FS AR AR (1,029)
Unallocated corporate expenses FOBEERY 955
Profit before income tax B P15 25 Al A 8,726
For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% 202243 A31BLFE
Segment revenue 2EUWA 59,942 2,705 62,647
Segment profit/(loss) DEEF, (EE) 1,908 (9,013) (7,105)
Finance income B U % 5
Finance costs B SR AN (4,381)
Unallocated corporate gains Ao ERE 511
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBERS (4,492)
Loss before income tax bRETISELRIEE (15,462)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the years.

Segment results represent profit/(loss) incurred by each segment
without allocation of central administrative expenses including directors’
emoluments and salaries and other operating expenses incurred by the
Company and the investment holding companies, certain other (losses)/
gains and finance income and costs. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

EXEHRDOBBAEHEINEFESE
ZWas o MEFEIL D BEHE
DWMEERESBEE 2 EM (B
B HEXEDEFRITHAX - BFE
EMERFEARARRRREZBRA
AEAZHBRERS BTHMUES
18), s K B s e BB o it Th st 5
FEERRFFHEDIREMA T ZLER
RAZMLIFTE -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEbER (#)
Segment assets and liabilities g3l B 2 S B A
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of assets and TXEHIEAREBREHMERE D2
liabilities analysed by the geographical area of operations of the Group: BENBEZEREED
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3H31H
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYHR HKRBRRER
HKREEM B 75 AR 7% st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FET FHET
Segment assets PWEE
— Hong Kong —&E 62,115 32,675 94,790
— The PRC — 2,598 - 2,598
64,713 32,675 97,388
Unallocated corporate assets ROBEEE 2,463
Total assets BERE 99,851
Segment liabilities PEEE
— Hong Kong — &8 (10,999) (2,294) (13,293)
— The PRC — (1,463) - (1,463)
(12,462) (2,294) (14,756)
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROBEAE (6,757)

Total liabilities BE4REE (21,513)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2022

8. iRER(#)
gyl M AR ()

A 20223 A31H

Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HELHKE HFBERAR
REEm BT IR %S st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T
Segment assets DEEE
— Hong Kong — &% 56,759 105 56,864
— The UK o - 20,628 20,628
— The PRC — 4,361 - 4,361
61,120 20,733 81,853
Unallocated corporate assets APEEEE 256
Total assets BERE 82,109
Segment liabilities SEEE
— Hong Kong — &% (7,394) (295) (7,689)
— The PRC — P E (1,186) - (1,186)
(8,580) (295) (8,875)
Unallocated corporate liabilities RoBEEAE (37,367)
Total liabilities BERRE (46,242)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

—  all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain
property, plant and equipment, certain deposits and prepayments,
and certain cash and cash equivalents that are not attributable to
individual segments.

—  all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain
accruals and other payables, and other borrowings that are not
attributable to individual segments.

REENBRAMR D BEDEER

— BRETYE BEARE ETREK
ERBENFE  UWEETREEE
RRE T ABRI D RSN - FREE

EYHRELLEDE

— KRETEFEAREBENERRL
Hib g E T ABRID RS - FE

BEONEELEDE -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEbER (#)
Other segment information HoA 4335 &R}
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31HLEE
Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEYKRR EBRRER
HREER B 7 AR A% st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Amounts included in the measure of 2% %%, (EiE) &
segment profit/(loss) and PWMEEMFAZER
segment assets
Additions to property, plant NEWE - BB REE
and equipment - 26 26
Depreciation of property, plant Y BERREBZITE
and equipment (179) (12) (191)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEE2ITE (1,234) - (1,234)
Loss on termination of leases BIFHE ZBE (105) - (105)
Reversal of allowance for ECLon trade ~ B@EW EH 2 FBHEZE
receivables, net E1EREHE - PR 4,879 - 4,879
Reversal of/(provision for) allowance for  # @ (5H12) H{th FEWBE R 2
ECL on other receivables, net TEEMEEEERE T8 (302) 15,211 14,909
Reversal of impairment losses on BEFERERE

inventories, net 11,400 - 11,400
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. &R ()
Other segment information (Continued) FoAta oy 3R BORE (A)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BZE2022F3A31HILEE

Sales of Strategic
pearls and investment
jewellery and financial
products services Total
HEPIHRE  KEERAEAR
REEmM 7% AR st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FAET
Amounts included in the measure of &% %K, (EE) &
segment profit/(loss) and PHEEMTAZEHE
segment assets
Additions to property, plant RNEWME - BB &E
and equipment - 46 46
Depreciation of property, plant YME BEMREBZITE
and equipment (185) (4) (189)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE (1,166) (1,166)
Reversal of allowance for ECLon trade ~ BEIEW E K 2 FBEAZEEIE
receivables, net B - 3R 4,525 - 4525
Provision for allowance for ECL on MR EMEUER R 2 TEEEE
other receivables BB - (10,260) (10,260)
Provision for impairment losses on FHRGERESERE  FE
inventories, net (1,459) (1/459)
Impairment loss on property, plantand ¥ % ~ & M &% 15 DA K (5 F A
equipment and right-of-use assets BEZRERE - ) )
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical Information

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA, the UK and
Europe. The Group's revenue from external customers based on the
locations of operations and information about its non-current assets by
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

8. rEbE R (4)

Ho [ & R

AEBTERETE PE - XE  RE
REMNEE - REBREERELE D
ZHREEIINEPZWNGERIRAEEELZ
RO ZERBEEZERFINOT

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets*
REEMIEF 2 WH FRBEE*
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 2022 4F 2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
The USA* X[ 74,480 53,595 - -
Europe BoM
— The UK — 1,693 2,894 - -
— Others — Hfh 267 1,449 - -
Hong Kong a5 8,988 3,352 886 2,078
Asian countries EEVLIETER
— PRC (excluding Hong Kong)  — R EI (TEIEFH) 538 53 93 476
— Others — Ef 607 69 = -
Others Efb 307 1,235 - -
86,880 62,647 979 2,554

Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
only.

Included in the sales of pearls and jewellery products segment, revenue from the
transactions with one individual customer, which is located in the USA, amounted to
approximately HK$74,233,000 (2022: HK$50,954,000) which represented
approximately 85% (2022: 81%) of total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023.

* FRBEAEEBEME BB REEHENRE

AEEE -

¢ HERKRKREERD BEIEHZE2023F3

A3BILFE  #B—FUREEZERNES
X5 Z WA 4 B74,233000% JT (20224 -
50,954,000/ 7T ) + 15 7N & B 42 W A 4985%
(20224F : 81%) °
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OTHER LOSSES, NET

P 7 23
o A B 7 S PR
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

9. MHAtEiH - HH

2023 2022

2023 2022 F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FAET

Exchange loss, net b E51E - FER (2,976) (1,105)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary S B A F 2z W - 511

Impairment loss on property, plant and Y - BB MR IE K

equipment and right-of-use assets FREEEREEE - @
Loss on termination of leases* RIERE 2 BB (105) -
Government grants® R 66 B ¢ 333 -

Others’ Hth 1,236 (138)

(1,512) (736)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had negotiated with a landlord for
terminating certain portion of existing lease agreement for the operation of factories
in the PRC.

The government grants were mainly consisted of the sum HK$288,000 received by
certain subsidiaries in connection with the new phase of Employment Support
Scheme launched by Hong Kong Government and approximately HK$45,000
received by a subsidiary in the PRC received from the relevant authorities of the PRC
to support enterprise against the negative brought by the COVID-19 pandemic
during the current year. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

relating to these grants.

For the current year, included in the others were mainly the extension premium and
cure payment in an aggregate amount of GBP120,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,120,000) arisen from convertible loan notes and relevant interest previously
recorded under other receivables.

HZE203F3ANHILFE  AEED H—
EEIFEFRIETEBRELENREAHER
ENETHD -

BEHDEEREAFEEETHEARRS
PSR T HE L B — B R st st Bl B 1
288,000 7% 7T K 1 B — FE) /B8 A B 4 R B4R 78
FPIEBI LA S I 2019 B R R F R
BRERABEFERA450008TT - %%
BN AR ER R S A BT -

RARFE - EihEERENRRERZEE
A 9 48 58 /120,000 2 8 (48 & 7 491,120,000
VETT) M EED S (B RIRA T R AR RTRE 8
fEE M EUER R T RIAERE RIS, -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

10. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. B3 Bini Al (&5 48)
2023 2022
2023 20224F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHETT
Costs of inventories sold, excluding (reversal of)/ B EFERKA » TBIEFER
provision for impairment on inventories (Bm@), Bs 88,792 48,493
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment losson  HEF & REEE (#E)
inventories, net* Bt - FE (11,400) 1,459
Employee benefit expenses EBEBANAX (BREESHE)*
(including directors’ emoluments)* (Note 1) (BifsE11) 10,021 11,159
Auditor's remuneration = EREM N &
— Audit services — Bz R%
— current year — REE 650 580
— Non-audit services — EEERE 62 58
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB RBEHETE
equipment (Note 15) (BF&E15) 191 189
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16)  {F FIEEEITE (ML 16) 1,234 1,166
Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade BEERER 2 FBHREEEE
receivables, net (Note 20(a)) Bt o FEE (MisE 20()) (4,879) (4,525)
(Reversal of)/provision for allowance for ECLon (@), /sHEE b B BR 2k 2 78
other receivables, net (Note 20(b)) BEEEBEEE 35
(B3E 20(b)) (14,909) 10,260
Short-term leases payments, gross (Note 16) X2 HRFEE M7k - 2% (FtsE 16 488 304
Exhibition expenses BREMX = 298
# The amount was included in the cost of sales in the consolidated profit or loss. BRI AGREIBRE ZHEERAR ©
* No forfeited contribution available for offset against existing contributions to pension RAFER -+ I LW H R AT BRI R

costs defined contribution plans and social security costs during the year (2022: Nil).

RERKAERAESBERRERERIELD

Iﬁﬁtﬁ\%(zozzi i E) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 11. BEBAFZ (LHEEEMNE)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMETR 9,367 10,305
Pension costs defined contribution plansand ~ &Z & KA FE B H T2 K&
social security costs MERERA 654 854
10,021 11,159
Five highest paid individuals A4 1 NS
The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for the FR - AEBREGERFHATBRER
year include one (2022: one) existing director of the Company, whose NAEl—HQONE: —B)AAES B
emoluments are set out in Note 35 below. The emolument of the 2 B S T SCHIRE 35  EARPUE (2022
remaining four (2022: four) individuals is as follows: F OB AT 2MemT
2023 2022
2023 20226
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEREMER 2,617 2,624
Pension costs defined contribution plansand & Z & AT B T2 K%
social security costs MtERERA 70 72
2,687 2,696
Except for the directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 35, the number BT FsHECEEMEIN BRT
of the remaining four (2022: four) individuals whose remuneration fell SE iR E 2 4005 (20224F - M%)
within the following bands is as follows: AT ABAT :
Number of employees
EEA"
2023 2022
2023 F 2022
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 78 7L 2 1,500,000 7 7T 1 1
During the year ended 31 March 2023, no emoluments were paid by the REZE2023F3A31BIEFE » K&
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including directors, as TENAZEaFMAL(BREES)X
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for ERBE - fEAKS E i AR INA
loss of office (2022: Nil). 7N & B B 2 5% ok Bl B 4 (2 (20225 ¢

&) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12. 3 Bi b =2

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBx FHETT

BIEATRE IR
EERR (K5E17)

Current tax
Deferred tax (Note 17)

PRSI

Income tax expense

Hong Kong Profits Tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has
tax losses brought forward which are available for off-set against the
estimated assessable profits for the year (2022: Nil). Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HKS$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The profits of entity not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

PRC corporate income tax

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance notes, subsidiaries in the PRC
are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at 25% of the estimated
assessable profits during the year (2022: 25%). No provision for PRC
corporate income tax has been made as the PRC subsidiaries have no
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
Nil).

Withholding tax on distributed/undistributed
profits

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a
tax treaty, for dividends distributed by PRC subsidiaries to its immediate
holding company outside the PRC for earnings generated beginning on
1 January 2008. No withholding tax on distributed/undistributed profits
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

A W 75

ARASEBEHRE AN BRIERIE - K
FRZEFTERTES - L ERE S
FIEHEREQRE : T) - REFSG
B & &R E R 2 H 20000008
L8 I #2 8.25% S EL - 1M 2,000,000 7 7T
VA b 7 SE N8 3% 16.5% BT - TIFA B
REFEHMBHHZEE 2GR
MEEIRE — T E165% BT -

H 12 1 3 BT 5B

RIBEEFBEDEMGRERE  HAOR
EESITE - FRENBARBEERFN
i 51 FE &R 758 F25% 2 B R (20224 ¢
25%) BN AR B TS E o B B
BRAINEE20B3F3A3BILEFEL
LT IERRRURFI (20224 « #) > L
R B DG HEL B -

B4k AR A IR A 2 AL

B 200841 A1 HAR @ BRIEBIBET K
BT LR - & BRI B AR E P BT
BAaRAEERRmREFR BRI E
PERAE R Bk IR BB AN 10% FEFNFL ©
HE0BFIANBIEFE  AEEHBD
DR AR DR A I £ B 0B 2K (2022
FomE) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12.

13.

The amount of income tax position for the year can be reconciled to the

Fin 158 A 32 (%)

A JE RS BOR O BBk P 1S AR AT i

profit/(loss) before income tax as follows: M (FE8) 2 HER T -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FET
Profit/(loss) before income tax BETERIANER], (E518) 8,726 (15,462)

Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate at
16.5% (2022: 16.5%)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions
Tax effect of:
Expenses that are not deductible for
tax purpose
Income not subject to tax
Temporary differences not recognised
Tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses not
recognised previously

BATEMSHBIE165%
(20224 : 165%) st E 2§18

REMBNEEREEZHB AR

TR R 2 g2
FiggE
R Y b3

BERTZ WA

AR R B Z R
AR 2 IR B 18

B ERIRMER < AR R

1,440 (2,551)
(313) (233)
824 2,106
(3,724) (1,341)
14 14
1,878 2,254
(119) (249)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by

dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity

holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

13. FREF(EE)

FRERARN,(BR) 2 EIRFER
AN R B R AR, (B 18 Br
NERBETEBRZ INETFOHEE -

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders
of the Company

ARFBRES R (B1R)

8,726 (15,462)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A A B R R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

13.

14.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. FBEM, (k) (4)
(CONTINUED)
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
‘000 '000
Number of shares BRHEE T T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Bt E&RREAEF](EE)
for the purpose of calculating basic earnings/ BT 2 @A Nt 19 8k (FA%)
(loss) per share (thousands) 603,392 354,590

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss)
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The weighted
average number of shares used for the purpose of calculating basic
earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022
has been adjusted for the issue of shares pursuant to the Rights Issue
(Note 25(b)) which increase the ordinary share on 12 May 2022.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The potential ordinary shares of the
Company are share options. The calculation of dilutive effect of share
options is determined by the number of shares that could have been
acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the exercise price of the options
exceeds the average market price of ordinary shares, thus share option is
not considered to be exercised (2022: the assumed conversion of
potential ordinary shares in relation to the share option had an anti-
dilutive effect to the loss per share).

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend any payment of dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

14.

BREREF,(EE) TR AR RRE
EER,/ (BB BRAFAERITER
R MEFHEETE - ARETEHZE
2023F K 2022F3A3TBILFEERE
AEF,(KE) B nEFHREE R
AR (B 25(0) BITRR (D IETTHEE -
7202245 B 12 BIE N @AY -

BREERT (BB HEBAEET
bz LR INEFHIETE - ARE
EMEBEEELRRKR - AR B 2E

FELBERABRE BREETTE
FTE T UARIB MR ITE B REN A 2R
BREZEEEE  JERATE(EEAR
RNAEIRGD 2 FH2FETHERMDER) UKE
ZBRHBEET - R ElEE 2 RHDE
EE’@TE”“ﬁﬁ%ﬂx%ﬁ‘ﬁﬁéﬁzwﬁﬁl

HEITEEER o

REZE2023F3 831 HIEFE - BARE
TEERBBT AR FEETE At
BT R A ITFE (2022 F « R

BEREREAENET T BREZRE
BEREETE) -

it 2

EETEHMER203F3A318IEF
R R (20224 « ) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3 - W Kkt

Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
Bz R 1R
HEETFE Hes RERRK e @t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FET TET TER FET FET
Yearended 31 March2022 % Z2022%53H31H
LFE
Opening net book amount FURRFE 339 189 5 - 533
Additions NE 46 - - - 46
Depreciation (Note 10) & (ME10) (127) 61) 1) - (189)
Impairment loss HEEE - - @ - @
Exchange differences BN EE - 26 - - 26
Closing net book amount EREWTE 258 154 - - 412
At 31 March 2022 R202263A318
Cost AR 539 20,376 314 2,650 23879
Accumulated depreciationand 237 E RRE
impairment (281) (20222 (314) (2,650) (23467)
258 154 - - 412
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
BHER B -
HERFER e RERRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TET THER THERT
Yearended 31 March 2023 #Z202353A31H
LFE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 258 154 - - 412
Additions RE - - 26 - 26
Depreciation (Note 10) WE (FE10) (135) (55) (1) = (191)
Closing net book amount FARE®FE 123 99 25 - 247
At 31 March 2023 R202363A318
Cost B AR 539 20,376 340 2,650 23,905
Accumnulated depreciationand 237 E RRE
impairment (416) (20,277) (315) (2,650) (23,658)
123 99 25 - 247
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. I HEE E

Premises
L3
HK$'000
FAET
Cost: AR :
At 1 April 2021 R20216E4 818 3,396
Additions NE 2,092
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022F3A31BR2022F4H1H 5,488
Early termination of lease RPKEILEHEE (354)
Derecognition upon expiry FI AR 4% L 1R (2,687)
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3H31H 2,447
Accumulated depreciation: RiHiE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1 H 2,180
Charge for the year (Note 10) FRFZ (FE10) 1,166
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022F3A31BR2022F4H1H 3,346
Charge for the year (Note 10) FRNFZ (FE10) 1,234
Early termination of lease RERILHEE (178)
Derecognition upon expiry FI BB AR L TER (2,687)
At 31 March 2023 2023638318 1,715
Net carrying amount: BRTEFE :
At 31 March 2023 720233 H31H 732
At 31 March 2022 M2022%63HA31H 2,142
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The right-of-use assets mainly represent the Group's rights to use
underlying leased premises as offices for its operations under operating
lease arrangements over the lease terms, which ranged from 1 to 3
(2022: 1 to 3) years, which are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the early termination of lease was
resulted from the closure of certain factories in the PRC.

The right-of-use assets have been recognised, on a lease-by-lease basis,
at the respective initial carrying amounts equal to that of the related
lease liabilities, which are determined based on the lease payments
discounting using respective subsidiaries’ incremental borrowing rates
of 5.1% (2022: 5.19% to 15.0%) as at the date of initial recognition during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased

16. 13 FHHER 2 (%)

FHEEEFEAAEBERBEEAE
ZHEREHR (N1 234F)(20224F ¢
1E3F )N ELEFEAABEEDE
ER AT ZEF| - ETIRK AR E5T3T
ERZREBE(E)VE  THA
MEFTEREAEERE -

HZE20BF3IA3NBIEFEE BRI
METERETRBEBRAET IR -

FREEECKEEZBEHEEENZSA
RAEEESAERAEaENVGER
B) R MzEREEREZE 2023F3
A3 BIEFETRBERA RS HER
HrE5MBRAREEEAFENTF51%
(20224F : 5.1% % 15.0%) BE IR VT & - 3%
EBE -

BRHEARENHEEET 2 EREDR
S HHE WY i INER R - HE

assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. BETABEEERER-
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Fixed payments (Note 32(b)) & 7E < 3% (F 52 32(0)) 1,299 1,669
Expense relating to short-term leases (Note 10) E242 BiFE €407 2 B2 (B43E10) 488 304
Total cash outflow for leases ME RSB 1,787 1973

As at 31 March 2022, rental payment in the amount of HK$60,000 was
not yet paid and recognised in the other payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

202283 831 H ¢ MASZFEE 60,000
T WRNERA B IS AR R 3R 89 E b jE 1
/T))\EPEEWL, ©
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17.

18.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The followings are the major deferred income tax assets recognised by
the Group and movements thereon during the year ended 31 March
2023.

As at 31 March 2023, subject to the approval by Inland Revenue
Department, the Group has unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences relating to the allowance for ECL arose in Hong Kong and
may be carried forward indefinitely under the current tax legislation of
approximately HK$131,867,000 and HK$12,842,000 (2022:
HK$133,486,000 and HK$17,639,000) respectively. Subject to the
approval by relevant tax authority, the Group also has unused tax losses
arose in the PRC, which will be expired in 5 years from the year that the
losses incurred, of approximately HK$39,578,000 (2022: HK$36,876,000).
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
balances due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.

As discussed in Note 12, withholding tax would be payable on the
unremitted retained earnings of certain PRC subsidiaries. The PRC
subsidiaries have been incurring losses since commencement of
operation and there were no distributable retained earnings as at 31
March 2023 (2022: Nil).

17. WEHE B &

$Elﬁﬁ§m8¢3ﬂ35¢¢ﬁ$
RZEBRIEMMENEEREBBNT -

R2023F3A31 8 MRBIHRBEEHN
e AEBMAEEBREHREEBER
HZABBAREBE LA NRER =58
REBELE  EIRITEN T O] ER L
8 453 Bl| #9131,867,000 78 7T K. 12,842,000 78
7T (2022 4F © 133,486,000 7 7T I 17,639,000
BIL) o RIS EIE BB ILE
AEBERBETHEENREBHK
EER(BEBBLEEFRSTRIEE)
#739,578,00078 JT (2022 4 : 36,876,000 7%
JL) c BRRBETREFT AR IEFIRE - HUlk
B EERERREERIBEEE -
BN 12 TRl - AR E TR EN B
NAElZ REBRBAF AN - B
M EEUR - FEMBAR—EHESE
B8 > R 2023F3 A3 HY EA DR
REEF (20224 « ) o

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. R BB A F R E
2023 2022
2023 & 2022 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Investment cost, unlisted KERA - JEET - 80,193
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE - (80,193)

Struck off/dissolved in 2023 72023 F 5k HRER
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(CONTINUED)

Dellos Group (as defined below)

At 31 March 2022, the Group had hold 33% equity interests of Dellos
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Dellos Group”), of which the

18. TR BHE A v E (4])

Dellos % Hl (€ #& 7 F30)

2022F3 A31H » A & B #F A Dellos
Group Limited 2 H [ff B 2 7 ([ Dellos &

particulars of investments in associates are set forth below:

B )2 33% 2 B - B REEREN
LEFIREIIT

Proportion of ownership interest
and proportion of voting power

held by the Group
Place of AEERENEERERLOIR
incorporation/ RERLA)
Name of associates operation 2023 2022 Principal activities
BENRAER MM, EE R 2023 WnE  TEEH
Directly held
EERE
Dellos Group Limited* the Cayman Islands = 33%  Investment holding
Dellos Group Limited? HEHS REER
Indirectly held
BEER
Natural Spring Global Limited”  the British Virgin Islands = 33%  Investment holding
(the "BVI")
Natural Spring Global Limited* ~ HBEXA S REER
([KBRZEE])
Dellos F&B Co,, Ltd* Korea - 33%  Manufacturing, sale and distribution
('Dellos F&B") of fruit juice and other beverage
products
Dellos F&B Co, Ltd? #E BUE - HERDHET R
(IDellos F&B ) HEthRmER
Dellos International Limited?* Hong Kong - 33%  Trading of beverage products
Dellos International Limited N5 BEHRER
f Not audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited or another member firm of Moore # WIERAESHEESSAMELAERE QB

global network

The financial reporting dates of the above associates are not
coterminous with those of the Group, as they have financial years ending
31 December or 30 June.

Investments in and loans to Dellos Group were fully written down during
the year ended 31 March 2018. The Group was informed by the
management of Dellos Group on 20 June 2018 that Dellos F&B had filed
an application for commencing rehabilitation proceedings (the
"Rehabilitation Proceedings”) with Seoul Rehabilitation Court (the
“Court”) on 13 February 2018 and the Court had approved the
commencement of the Rehabilitation Proceedings on 7 March 2018.

REBREHBPRZ S KB EBHHEZ

LB ERR MR EAAEASEE
FXTHER - REBZERAI 2T RE
EAEE12A31886 A308 1k -

HZ=2018F3 A31HILFE R Dellos %
BEERMEERDZERE 2HM
B o RSB 2018F 6 A 20 B £ J& Dellos
EEZEEEBA - Dellos FRBE 742018
FoAHMBEBREREZER ([ERKR]) IR
REFHBDERREF((EEEF] B
EBRBE R 2018F 3 A7 B ERRENERIE
;%‘o
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. RBHE A RIMNE (4)

(CONTINUED)
Dellos Group (as defined below) (Continued)

The rehabilitation plan (“Rehabilitation Plan”) involves, among other
matters, reduction or exemption of the outstanding debts owed by
Dellos F&B, conversion of all or part of the creditors’ claims into shares of
Dellos F&B and repayment plan for the remaining debts. The
Rehabilitation Plan was put forward for approval by the creditors and
shareholders of Dellos F&B and the Court.

Based on the advices from the Group's legal advisers, the Group
considered it was probable that the shareholding of the Group in Dellos
F&B would be diminished. Hence, the directors of the Company
considered that Dellos F&B had ceased to be an associate of the Group
since the date of filing of application for commencing the Rehabilitation
Proceedings and that as a result of the Rehabilitation Plan, there was no
significant value in the Group's equity interests in the Dellos Group as (i)
the main operating subsidiary in the Dellos Group prior to the date of
filing of application for commencing the Rehabilitation Proceedings is
Dellos F&B; (ii) the shareholding of Dellos Group in Dellos F&B would
likely be very significantly diluted; (iii) the important decisions of Dellos
F&B would require the Courts approval; and (iv) there would be no
dividend payout during the rehabilitation period. It was considered
highly unlikely that Dellos Group would bring to the Group any future
economic benefits.

According to the Rehabilitation Plan, the loans made by the Group to
Dellos F&B had been made part of the rehabilitation claims, with the
Group having been regarded as a rehabilitation creditor. Although the
Group, as a rehabilitation creditor, will be able to obtain recovery of the
loans in accordance with the terms of the Rehabilitation Plan, it is subject
to approval by the Court and also the economic conditions of Dellos
F&B. In addition, based on the latest financial information provided by
the management of Dellos F&B, the financial position of Dellos F&B is net
current liabilities. Furthermore, by reference to the published audited
financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2018 all the non-
financial assets of Dellos F&B were pledged to certain banks in Korea. The
directors of the Company considered that the likelihood of recovery of
the loans and interest receivables owed by Dellos Group to the Group
was low.

Dellos 5 Bl (& #7F30) (4)

BETEH(ERFE D PR (EFEE)
Bl 58 2k %A 42 Dellos F&BAS R Y R BB &
% BEEANETSIBOERELA
Dellos F&RBHI B 17 A M 82 TN ETSHE R T
2R o EEFEIE IR Dellos FRBRIERE A
T A8 B A Ko A Be A S S BEE o

BEASEEEZZBERZER  ~EER
A RE B Dellos F&B 2 % #5 1R 7] BE
WL Al AAREERE ' B
IR BB EEEREFHH#E © Dellos
FREBETHAREE  EE AR - BEE
ST BB B £ 7 7 Dellos 52 B 7 A% HE I
BAEE - RAA () Dellos EBINIZ A
ERHSEEREFEHAZESLENE
A a) & Dellos F&B ; (i) Dellos ££ B 72 Dellos
F&B 2 A% A5 1R AT L FE R IR HEE ¢ (i)
Dellos F&B 2 B8 AR TE B A AT LA + &
(WREZHANEZETGEIERE - Dellos
EEMERBEBETTREBREERERMA
{A] AR TR A FI| 25

RIEE LTS - A% E A Dellos F&BIEH
PEFREAERREZ 5 MA
SEEWRAERERA BEAEH
(TEAEREREAN) BEAREERLS
IR E B R - M E B ER
% ITAYEE - BIREURR Dellos F&B 2
LOBEAR L o EoN » ARIK Dellos F&B & 12 [E
REZBAHMEER - Dellos F&B Z Bf
BRALERBEEFH - BE  £2
BRI ZEHZE2018F3ANAHILEFEY
REZBFERE - Dellos FRBF A IEE &l
BEDRBTFEESR TRT - ARAE
=D EEWE Dellos & E4E R AL E 2 fE
WERKRFE Z A et AR -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(CONTINUED)
Dellos Group (as defined below) (Continued)

On 17 October 2018, the Court approved the Rehabilitation Plan and
under the Rehabilitation Plan, there will be yearly cash payment
instalments over a 10-year period (starting from 2020) in respect of the
30% of the outstanding debts and the remaining 70% of the outstanding
debts will be converted into the equity of Dellos F&B. However, based on
the latest financial information for the year ended 31 March 2019
provided by the management of Dellos F&B, its financial performance
continued to deteriorate and its financial position is still in net current
liabilities. In view of the diminished shareholding upon the conversion of
debts to equity and no reliable estimation of future economic benefits
derived, the directors of the Company considered that the above
investment cost and loans and interest receivables were still unlikely to
be recovered.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, based on the advices from the
Group's legal advisers, the management of Dellos F&B entered into the
bankruptcy proceeding to the Korean court on 16 July 2020. Once the
bankruptcy proceedings confirmed, the Rehabilitation Plan would no
longer exist and the probability of the Group getting back any of the
outstanding debts was low. In view of this, the directors of the Company
considered that the investment cost and loans and interest receivables
were unlikely to be recovered to the date when the financial statements
were authorised for issue.

At 31 March 2023, the overseas companies involved in the investments
in associates were all struck off or dissolved. As the investments in and
loans to Dellos Group were fully written down during the year ended 31
March 2018, and the Group did not received any proceeds from the
struck off or dissolved companies, there is no reversal of any written off
amount.

18. R 2 v R B E (4])

Dellos £ M (5 & i 30) (4])

20184510 H17 B » AP O b A E A
2l MBEEETE REAEEES
Z30%M 5 ¢ #5104 B R (20204
FIs) BFETRES D BN MERE
BES 2 B2 70% 1 85 & Dellos F&B 2
f% 7K o $R7Mm + 1R % Dellos F&B & I [E 12 it
HZE2019F3831HIEFE 2 &THE
HER  EFBRRFESEREN
BRI BReaEFEMRR - ERR
TR R ESE A AT FTE £ 2 KRR
B MARBEERA - LKA
B AN DA B JE U B 3R R ) BT R K AT e 1
Y@ e

HE20NFIANBLEFE  REASE
BAEBEMZER @ Dellos FRBZ EIE[E
7202097 A 16 B ﬁﬁé‘liﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁ&é
B —BWERTERER =ETE
B BT ﬁﬁﬂi‘%@%@{iﬂﬁ &
BRI RIRE - BENY - AAFES
RAE PNERESRHHEREREE &
B A DA K FE W E 3R K ) B K AT BE
IqEe

2023438318 - REEE RN FINRE
B B B8 9N A B9 15 5 Br sk BR AR -
R ¥ Dellos Group M & & M E R R EH =
20183 A31 A ILFE R B EUMEE -
M 75 & B 3 S A1 5 B sk BR B A A1k
B E Tz - P bk 37 4 48 Bl AR () S
o
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19.

20.

INVENTORIES 19. 78
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Bx FET
Raw materials R 5,255 11,687
Work in progress R 58 629
Finished goods SR o 39,298 11,660
44,611 23,976

As at 31 March 2023, for the jades included in the finished goods, which
is recorded based on the net realisable value evaluated by independent
gemmologists engaged by the Group.

The provision for impairment losses on inventories is generally made for
those inventories aged over 180 days to 1 year with no subsequent sales
while the reversal of provision for impairment losses on inventories is
only recognised for those inventories which are sold subsequently with
the prices higher than the carrying amounts.

As at 31 March 2023, certain inventories with original cost which
amounted to approximately HK$69,324,000 (2022: HK$64,949,000) were
stated at net realisable value of approximately HK$19,285,000 (2022:
HK$3,510,000).

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

MN2023FE3 A3 IR BEEKRSGT
MEA BEALEEEENBEYIEAE
R A B IR FE T8 ©

—RERERAIS0BA EE 1 F T ER
BEECZEFEELTFERAEBER
- MEEREBERERLBER LR
EeanREAE EBREH RS FER

7
s ©

R2023F3A31B B F R K ALY
69,324,000 78 7T (2022 4F © 64,949,000 78 7T )
2 A7 & & A] 38 % (E 49 19,285,000 4 TT
(2022 % : 3,510,000 7T) HI/BR o

20. JE W Bk B B A B W B K ~ 1R
B FEA sk 0

2023 2022

2023 F 20226

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Trade receivables (Note (a)) FEWE K (5T @) 7,016 5,667
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  H{th JEIBR R « 124 MFE T 1E

(Note (b)) (B 5E (b)) 5,984 26,327

13,000 31,994
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DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables

20. FEWCE K B 3 REOIR K~ 1R &

Be weA k0 (4])

Wik

(a)

PE W E 5K

2023 2022

2023 F 20226

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FA&T

Trade receivables, gross SR - 425 19,744 23,306
Less: allowance for ECL on trade receivables W ERERZ B EEEERE (12,728) (17,639)
Trade receivables, net EWER  F8 7,016 5667

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at
the reporting date, based on invoice dates which approximate the respective

AT ARRKERCIRARERBERREE) R
BEAPRRBEEZAR(EE G RAER

revenue recognition dates: HEE) ZBRER DT
2023 2022
2023 F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT
0to 30 days 0%E30H - 4,140
31 to 90 days 31290H 7,016 1,527
91 to 180 days 91&180H - -
7,016 5,667

The Group's retail sales to customers are mainly made in cash or through credit card
payments. The trade receivables arising from credit card sales are normally settled in
one to two business days in arrears. For the remaining customers, the Group generally
grants a credit period of 30 days to 120 days, according to industry practice together
with consideration of their credibility, repayment history and years of establishment.
A longer credit period may be granted to large or long-established customers with
good payment history.

AEBEREFPEEHETENRSHFER
ERREREL - ERARHEEEZERE
HATR—EMELEANGEE - RIETE
BHNEREEZEE  BRRERKLF
7 AEB—RABKTELELI0BE20
AZEER - EBRIFARGZ 2 KB KE
FRARFAERRREES -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

An ageing analysis of these trade receivables, net of allowance for ECL, as at the

reporting date, based on due dates, is as follows:

20. FEWCE K B 3 REOIR K~ 1R &
Fe vk sk (4)

faE - (&)

PEW & K ()

ZERRER(INREREEBRRE) N®
EHHBIRBIIEE ZREATOT -

2023 2022

2023 2022 6

HK$'000 HK$'000

TRET FAET

Not overdue 7 42 380 2 = 297
Overdue by: BEHR

1to 30 days 12308 6,122 3,843

311090 days 31E90H 894 1527

7,016 5,667

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements in

respect of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired.

The management of the Company makes reference to the historical repayment to
assess the impairment for individual debtors with significant balances while the
Group collectively assesses the impairment for its remaining customers using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings based on shared credit risk
characteristics of customers by reference to geographical area, past default
experience and current past due exposure and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted economic growth rates, export
data and default rate in respective regions, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the regions in which the debtors operate) that is available without

undue cost or effort.

The allowance for impairment are measured at lifetime ECL in accordance with

simplified approach.

A B 5L O B VB ROBUE 2 IR U TR
BAERER R ERIR e A EAEAR -

ARAEEE2EBERTAFBAEALS
Bz ERNEBAZRE MAEE2ZH
B BEERERERFADRR  EHA
ERBEEFARGERBRBRIEESEZ
BEEEEEIGERTEL ZNE I
BEMNHBERALE HAAEZAEEE
B R EBS NS EREIR 2 BEEE
RB2ARR 2 BE REILEERE
H OB R RE)EHHE o

REELTE  BERBHRE2PEREER
BIERTE -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. ME W K B At BE WO K~ ¥
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS B AT K OH (4])
(CONTINUED)
Notes: (Continued) BitsE - (48)
(a)  Trade receivables (Continued) (a) ERER(#E)
Movements in the allowance for ECL on trade receivables under HKFRS 9 are as RIEEEMBRELBFOHE I ERIKER Y
follows: TEHEEBERESBNOT -
Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
not credit impaired credit impaired Total
2HEHEERERE 2HBEBGEEFE
—EBEEHE —=8RE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHT
As at 1 April 2021 R2021F4 818 14 26,257 26,271
Changes in the loss allowance: EiERE2E -
— Written off — A - (4,107) (4,107)
— Charged/(credited) to consolidated ~ — 18 (Gt A) &r & 18
profit or loss (Note 10) (Mi5E10) 1,024 (5,549) (4,525)

As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R202F3A318K

2022%F4/81H 1,038 16,601 17,639

Changes in the loss allowance: BIRBEEY -

— Written off — s - (32) (32)
— Charged/(credited) to consolidated —HE,/ Gt EsEaER
profit or loss (Note 10) (FFEE10) 4,897 (9,776) (4,879)

As at 31 March 2023 A2023F3 A31H 5,935 6,793 12,728

Notes: MRE

(a) There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant (a) FARRGEWE R 7 BB EEIT
assumptions made during the year in assessing the loss allowance for the BB AR EARE ©
trade receivables.

(b) As of 31 March 2023, trade receivables with gross carrying amount of (b) HZE2023F3A318 EEAENA
approximately HK$6,793,000 (2022: HK$16,601,000) were fully impaired and 6,793,000 7T (2022 % : 16,601,000 78
provided for those credit-impaired customers which are in unexpectedly TU) 2 EWERE 2 EURE K EE
difficult economic situations. REAZSEERERTFPENRKER

T2 AR -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

20. FE Rk B 3L fib R WROIR K~ 2
Fe vk sk (4)

faE - (&)

(b)

HtbEWRN - RERBANRE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Other receivables, gross Efh AR R 4R R

Transferred from convertible loan notes (Note (i)) R g TR E RS (R () - 36,834
Others Hith 722 269

Less: allowance for ECL on other receivables (Note (i) 33 : FELfh & Us BR 75 78 BR{E S 1B R
CBRFE i) (302) (16,206)
Other receivables, net H b FEWER R R 420 20,897
Deposits BHe 587 587
Prepayments (Note (iii)) TE - RRIE (M EE (if)) 4,977 4,843
5,984 26,327

Notes:

On 10 November 2017, the Group entered into the investment agreement
and subscribed for certain convertible loan notes issued by Wonderland (UK)
Holdings Limited (“Wonderland (UK)"). The principal amount was
GBP3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$35,994,000) which carried
interest at 6% per annum and payable on the date on which the convertible
loan notes become payable or are redeemed. The maturity date of the
convertible loan notes was on 9 November 2020 and would be redeemed at

100% of the principal amount.

On 9 November 2020, all convertible loan notes expired and no conversion
option was exercised by the Group. The outstanding principal amount of
GBP3,500,000 and accrued interest of approximately GBP571,000 were not
yet settled. At the date of expiry, the directors of the Company reassessed the
business model for holding the convertible loan notes. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Group opted for not converting any
conversion option to convert the loan notes to the ordinary share of
Wonderland (UK) and the purpose of the Group held such receivables are for
collecting contractual cash flows which are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, as such, the receivables are
classified as financial asset measured at amortised cost during the year ended
31 March 2022. Accordingly, the Group has reclassified the convertible loan
notes at fair value through profit or loss measurement category into the
amortised cost measurement category and its fair value amount of
approximately GBP2,930,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$29,907,000)
has become the gross carrying amount of other receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position upon its expiry.

R2017F 1M A108  REBETLE
& % I R #Wonderland (UK)
Holdings Limited ([ Wonderland (UK) |)
BOZETIRRERER - 2458
73,500,000 3 £ (8 & 7 4735,994,000
L) HIEEBFeEZAERGE - 1
B AR IR B R IR A B FE S sl (B
ZHETFULA - TRRERERZ
BIEAH A20205 11 BoH » WiBEA
SEZ 100%E[E]

M2020511 A9  FREAHRIRER
EREE B AR E BB AT R -
%) 7% 8 38 7N 4 %8 3,500,000 2 5 1% JE 5
F B #)571,000 5 65 oK #5 1+ o 70 B Hf
B ARRlEZSMTEHETRR
ERZENEBER - AQAREER
B AEERETHOKERZEE
2 5 Wonderland (UK) /) £ 38 % &9 (F 3]
B RAEERAZEFREBERR
WEMABKEAEHIRE R BEME
BHAEBEASBENLAS LTS
2o A B E202F38318IEF
B - BRER D A RIS AT &
WERMEE - Bt - AEEEHER
FEFAESAEERN N ARRER
ZRSH O EAEBERAEER
T E A FE 492,930,000 785 (FHERLD
29,907,000/ 7 ) B BRI B X B4R &
ARSI R O B A PR AR AR E 48 1E -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@i

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the outstanding carrying amount of convertible loan
notes of approximately GBP1,960,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$20,158,000) was recognised as receivables and included in other
receivables. The gross carrying amount of the outstanding principal and its
accumulated interest receivables of approximately GBP3,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$35,994,000) and approximately GBP82,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$840,000) were not yet settled and accumulated
allowance for credit loss allowance of approximately GBP36,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$370,000) was made. The receivables were guaranteed
by the shareholders of Wonderland (UK).

As at 31 March 2022, such other receivables with carrying amount amounting
to approximately HK$20,628,000 has been pledged to secure the other
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 24(i)).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the entire principal amount of other
receivables and relevant interest were fully collected in January 2023, relevant
accumulated allowance in the amount of approximately HK$15,211,000 was
reversed and recorded as reversal of allowance for ECL on other receivables.
Relevant details were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
18 January 2023.

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables approximate their
fair values as these financial assets, which are measured at amortised cost, are
expected to be received within one year.

faE - ()

20. FE Rk B 3L fib R WROIR K~ 2
Fe vk sk (4)

HitbBURR - R RENTE (F)

M ()

0]

MR2022F3 310 ATBRBREREZE
B i A 18 38 BR TEI {E1 49 1,960,000 32 8 (4R
B H4920,158,000 78 7T ) TE 7R 4 FE W BR
FRETAH B AR - MAREEAN
SHEMNEEAERRTERF SN
3,500,000 2% £5 (48 & R #935,994,000 78
TT) K #982,000 3 £ (18 & 5 4 840,000
BIT) MARGENREELEEBEZR
AT B 5 4936000 (B E R D
37000078 7T ) o % T FE W K E A
Wonderland (UK) B A% BRAE (R ©

MR202F3A318 Z K EE D
20,628,000 7 7T #) E A FE UL BR 5K B 1K
FABRAEBERR O E A EE
FE24()) °

REE2023F3A83HILEE  Hip
BUREREFNEBASERABNEE
M2023F 1 A2 EPUE - HHRE R AT H
& & B #915,211,0007 7T & 1% B 0 3
SR AHMEURRNTESREERE
BERERD - BEFBEERAAR B
20231 B 18 AMRAEHRIHE -

JRE W R R A W BR AR 2 BR T B
HATVERE  RAREYZSRE
A B 2 2 REERR —F AN
HR °
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (Continued)

20. FE Rk B 3L fib R WROIR K~ 2
Fe vk sk (4)

faE - (&)

(b) HAEWIRN  RERBENAREE)

Notes: (Continued) sk : ()
(ii) Movements in the allowance for ECL on other receivables under HKFRS 9 are (if) RIBEESMEREERFEOSR - Hith
as follows: YRR TEREEBEEEZE D
T
Total
Mt
HK$'000
FA&T
As at 1 April 2021 R2021%4 818 5,946
Changes in the loss allowance: EiakEe g
— Charged to consolidated profit or loss (Note 10) — B4&RAERNE (M:E10) 10,260
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022F3 A31BK2022F481H 16,206
Changes in the loss allowance: BiEREZY
— Exchange difference of ECL —JEHEEBEELEZR (995)
— Credited to consolidated profit or loss (Note 10) — BiRAEB=MR (M 10) (14,909)
As at 31 March 2023 7A2023F3 8311 302
(iii) As at 31 March 2023, the balance mainly represented prepayments for (iii) MR2023F3A310 EHRTERBEE

purchases of pearls of approximately HK$4,192,000 (2022: HK$4,057,000) and
exhibition expenses of approximately HK$423,000 (2022: HK$584,000).

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit

rates.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate

their fair values.

As at 31 March 2023, bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$1,701,000 (2022: HK$3,189,000). The
conversion of RMB-denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances
and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

As at 31 March 2023, a time deposit of approximately HK$23,800,000
(2022: Nil) was placed in a licensed financial institution. The short term
time deposits earn interest at the respective short term time deposits

rates.

B IRV TE T A 494,192,000 7 7T (2022
F 40570008 T) KB B X4
423,00078 7T (2022 F : 584,000 78 7T) °

21. B RERBE

PITRE RS BRI RFE 2 E B
EHEMAE -

BehkFRACZRAERE QA FER

Eo

72023 3A31H  AEBUARES
B2 R 1745 8 # 51,701,0007% 7T (2022
F 31890008 7T) - HAARBEFEZ
R B INEI G It F AINE FHE 2
BITHEBEREERPE  AEFH
ERIT BL4NE B I A8 45 < FHRE R BI K AR 51 -

R2023%3 A31 8 - EFRE 423,800,000
PETL(2022F + )RS HE & B -
EHTHERESENEHEBERA
REREFIS, o
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22, JE Wk B G At JRE iR sk K B it
ACCRUALS #H
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Trade payables ERER 9,006 4,595
Accrued payroll and employee benefits Bt REEREF 839 756
Other payables and other accruals HAb AR R H AL EET & 8,910 9,054
18,755 14,405
An ageing analysis of trade payables, as at the reporting date, based on RS BE ENEFEBEREZEHHY
invoice dates, is as follows: BRERDITIAT -
2023 2022
2023 20226
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
0to 60 days 0260H 8,669 4,089
61 to 120 days 612120H - 428
More than 120 days i@ 120 H 337 78
9,006 4,595
As at 31 March 2023, consideration payables of HK$4,000,000 (2022: 20233 H31H + Y B Guardian City
HK$4,000,000) for acquisition of 30% interest in Guardian City Limited, Limited 30% 1 25 B9 JE 1~ £ {8 4,000,000 /&
and loan interest payables of HK$37,000 (2022: HK$698,000) were 7T (2022 %F : 4,000,0007%8 70 ) & [F FE 1+
included in other payables. B3 B 37,0008 7T (2022 F : 698,0007%8

7T)  EREAMENERKAR o

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables and accruals ENERREMEMNERREFERZ
approximate their fair values. IREEHEEATERES -
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HE A
2023 2022
2023 2022 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAET
Within one year —FR 758 1,282
Within a period of more than one year RiBBE—FETNEBMFE AR
but not more than two years - 779
Within a period of more than two years BB M EB TR 8 T B A
but not more than five years - -
758 2,061
Less: portion classified as current liabilities B DEAERBEEZHS (758) (1,282)
Non-current liabilities EmENBIE = 779
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the future minimum lease payments of MR2023F NM2022F3A31H HEMEE
the net minimum lease payments are as follows: NRFRBAREEEERRAOT
2023 2022
2023 F 20224F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Within one year —FR 769 1,351
Within a period of more than one year REBA—FETERA M F AR A
but not more than two years - 791
Total lease payments MENFBE 769 2,142
Less: Future finance charges A RREEER (11) @8mn

Total lease obligations HERTHRE 758 2,061
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24. OTHER BORROWINGS 24. Hibfs &
2023 2022
2023 20224F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAET
Other borrowing — secured HEE — BEE
Within one year or on demand (Note (i) —F R EESR(FEG)) - 29,776
Other borrowing — unsecured HibEE — ST
Within one year (Note (ii)) — &P (BT 5 (i) 2,000 -
2,000 29,776
Notes: B E
[0) As at 31 March 2022, the other borrowing was secured by other receivables of 0] 2022F3 A31 8 - HAb &5 H b B R

HK$29,776,000 bore fixed interest rate of 15% per annum, with repayment on
demand clause was secured by other receivables (Note 20(b)(i)) with an aggregate
borrowing amount of HK$29,776,000 and relevant accrued interests. As at 31 March
2023, this other borrowing has been fully repaid upon receipt of net proceeds from
Rights Issue during the year (Note 25(b)).

(i) As at 31 March 2023, the Group's other borrowing with carrying amount of
HK$2,000,000 bears fixed interest rate of 6% per annum with fixed repayment term of
one year. The borrowing is provided by an independent third party of the Group.

(in)

529,776,000/ ;L EH - B E FF X A
15% » 3 Bt 5 e TREE 55K AR H Mk
8 7% (f& X 4858 29,776,000 7 7T K 18 B g =1 7
BOEEB (M EE2000)0) © 72023538318 -
ZE SR E EF MBI AR FT R B
1% 2 5P EE (FIRE 2500)) ©

20233 A31H - A& EIRE(E 42,000,000
BT EMETIEE T FFE 6w B - M5
—FHETERY ZERHAEEN—F
B E =R
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
Number Share
of shares capital
ROEE BR A
‘000 HK$'000
TR T
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, ordinary 20214 518 K2022F3 8318 -
shares of HK$0.02 each BREE0.02 BT T 500,000 10,000
Increase authorised share capital on 1 April 2022 7 2022 fF 4 A 1 B 3 H3E E RX AN 9,500,000 190,000
At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3A31H 10,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 April 2021 2021481 H 266,377 5328
Placing of new shares (Note (a)) BeEFTAR D (B 5E (@) 53,272 1,065
At 31 March 2022 M2022F3A31H 319,649 6,393
Rights issue of new shares (Note (b)) R FTR D (BT EE (b)) 319,649 6,393
At 31 March 2023 A 202343 H31H 639,298 12,786
Notes: BT
(a)  Placingin 2022 (@) 2022FFESHE

On 1 September 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the
placing agent pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the placing agent on a best efforts basis, up to 53,272,000 placing shares at
the placing price of HK$0.103 per placing share to certain independent placees. The
net proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses
and professional fees of approximately HK$260,000) from the placing has been used
for general working capital for the Group including the partial repayment of the
Group's loan and accrued interests of approximately HK$1 million as detailed in the
Company’s announcement dated 1 September 2021. Accordingly, the Group's share
capital was increased by approximately HK$1,065,000 and the remaining balance of
approximately HK$4,162,000 was credited to the share premium account.

R2021F9A1H » AARIEEERIBT LA
EWE - Bt ARREKRERESBES
RIEBERNEEAETBEYARARSE RS
53,272,000 R BE E AR 17 - BL & B R BT RECE AR
1901037 7T - BE & FT18 SR IEF 58 (K MR ES
EM REMARRMMS RFEEE AL 260,000
BT EREAREEN —REEES  BED
DB B AR B B ) R E T F B 491,000,000
BT FHEBERARTESA2021498 18
RS o FEt - AEERRAIEINAI 1,065,000
P TT N BREEX94,162,00078 TLAT ARR D E (B R o
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Rights issue in 2022

On 28 January 2022, the Company proposed rights issue on the basis of one rights
share for every one existing share held on 17 March 2022 (‘Rights Issue’), at the
subscription price of HK$0.11 per rights share (‘Rights Share”).

On 4 May 2022, total of 18 valid acceptances and applications had been received for
a total of 292,798,833 Rights Shares, which comprise: (i) a total of 9 valid acceptances
for provisional allotments under the renounceable provisional allotment letters
("PALs") in respect of a total of 159,587,737 Rights Shares, representing approximately
49.93% of the total number of Rights Shares available under the Rights Issue; and (ii) a
total of 9 valid applications for excess Rights Shares under the form(s) of application
for use by the qualifying shareholders who wish to apply for excess Rights Shares
("EAFs") in respect of a total of 133,211,096 Rights Shares, representing approximately
41.67% of the total number of Rights Shares available under the Rights Issue.

On 5 May 2022, all conditions to the underwriting agreement entered into between
the Company and underwriter dated 28 January 2022 have been fulfilled and became
unconditional. As a result of the under subscription of the Rights Issue and in
accordance with the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the underwriter has
procured subscribers to subscribe for 26,850,131 unsubscribed Rights Shares,
representing approximately 8.40% of the total number of Rights Shares available for
subscription under the Rights Issue.

As a result following above, 319,648,964 Rights Shares were issued. The Rights Issue
has been completed and the net proceeds (after deducting the estimated rights
issues commission and other related expenses and professional fees of approximately
HK$2,389,000) of approximate HK$32,772,000 from the Rights Issue has been used for
repayment of the Group's loans and general working capital for the Group. Upon
completion of Rights Issue, share capital and share premium have been increased by
approximately HK$6,393,000 and HK$26,379,000 respectively.

Details of the transaction was disclosed in the circular dated 17 March 2022, the
prospectus dated 19 April 2022 and announcements of the Company dated 28
January 2022, 17 February 2022, 16 March 2022, 19 April 2022 and 12 May 2022
respectively.

26. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

25. JBEA (%)

Bt - ()

(b)

2022 F 4R
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R17BEREHE—REBRNELE —RURKR
fein e EAEITHAR ((HR]) - RBERE
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26. HA#W AR B AR

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&x FET
Finance income gl
Interest income on short-term bank deposits %8 HASR1T 1502 A2 U A 217 5
Finance costs B TE RN
Interest expenses on borrowings (Note 32(b)) & & ~ R 2557 (MsE 32(b)) (962) (4,302)
Interest expenses on lease HEBGECMNERX
liabilities (Note 32(b)) (B3 32(b)) (67) (79)
(1,029) (4,381)
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27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

On 10 June 2019, the Group and the two independent third parties
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
vendors have agreed to sell and the Group has conditionally agreed to
acquire the sale shares, representing 30% of the issued share capital of
Guardian City Limited (“Guardian City") at a total consideration of
approximately HK$176,005,000, of which is satisfied by cash as to
HK$10,000,000 and 153,000,000 shares issued by the Company at
HK$1.085 per share (equivalent to HK$166,005,000).

On 25 June 2019, the acquisition was completed, Guardian City became
an associate of the Company. Guardian City was principally engaged in
investment holding which holds 62.55% equity interest in Campfire
Holdings Company Limited (collectively as “Campfire Group”). Campfire
Group was principally engaged in operation of co-working spaces and
co-living spaces in Hong Kong and the UK.

In February 2021, Campfire Group was under the capital restructured by
transferring and allotting shares of Guardian City and Campfire Holdings
Company Limited among the shareholders. Upon the completion of the
capital restructuring and as at 31 March 2021, the Group no longer holds
any equity interests in Guardian City and has directly held 2.5% of
Campfire Holdings Company Limited. In view of such, the directors of
the Company have classified the investment of Campfire Group from
associate to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income at the completion date as the purpose of the investment is for
long term investment during the year ended 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the investment was
determined based on the latest financial position and performance of
the Campfire Group. In addition, in view of the gentle recovery from
COVID-19 pandemic and fierce competition which have caused adverse
impact on co-working spaces industry, the directors of the Company
estimated the fair value of the investment approximates to zero (2022:
Nil) as at 31 March 2023. Accordingly, no fair value change is recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO B B R Pk
For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31H LFE
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il
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FE=FFIVEEH®E B ZEES
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28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 17
October 2014. Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 September 2018, the refreshment of the Scheme
has been approved and the terms are stated below.

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives to participants to
contribute to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high caliber employees and attract those that are valuable to the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

The board of directors of the Company, may at its discretion, grant
options to the Group's directors, officers, employees (including, without
limitation, those employed for a fixed term) and contract consultants
(including executive and non-executive consultants) or any member of
the Group, to subscribe for shares of HK$0.02 each in the share capital of
the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

Under the Scheme, subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders, the maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme if the grant of such option will result in the limit being
exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under this Scheme and any other
share option of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution
adopting this Scheme.

28. JBAE &S VLI 2 B BE A K

ARBR 2014410 A 17 B IR BB At
2 ([Zst8l)) - BIBARARER 2018
FORABHBBITZARAIRRER RS
BB ERRRE  BHATEBE
HEAE R EARSRE T T o

W wt B H e

At Bl B W AE 2 B R AKEE
HER YSAKBEREAEENEEE
FEINTSIHAEEEENET -

WZnt & 2 85

ARREEGARNBRALEBSAEE
FEKERRIZES afBE BT
(BEETRABETESRNET) XE
HER (BRENTRIERITER) BB
BRiE - ARIRRZ TSI 2 R RE AR T
RE AR Z IR EE 002 T2 IRD °

AR % w8 T 3k B AT B M A

RigZat 8 AFAQBBRLE - ©
TEREBEZTECHEOERTENFAE
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28.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Options granted to each participant (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding Options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of Options to a participant which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
Options granted and to be granted to such participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding the limit
shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in advance with such
participant and his close associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of
HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

Period within which the share must be taken up
under an option

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors of the Company, save that such period shall not be more than
ten years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject to the
provisions for early termination as set out in the Scheme. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors at their absolute discretion, there
is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must be
held before an option can be exercised. In addition, there is no
performance target which must be achieved before any of the options
can be exercised.

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option and
the period within which the payment must be made

The nominal consideration of HK$1.00 shall be paid within 28 days from
the date of offer of the option.
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28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Basis of determining the exercise price of the option

The subscription price for shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and notified to the
participant in the offer and shall be no less than the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(2)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant (provided
that in the event that any options is proposed to be granted
within a period of less than five business days after the trading of
the shares shall be used for the purpose of this paragraph; and

(3)  the nominal value of a share on the day of grant.
Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
date of adoption (i.e. 26 September 2014 and ending on 25 September
2024), after which no further options will be granted but the provisions
of the Scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted or exercised prior to otherwise as
may be required in accordance with the provision of the Scheme.
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28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

28. JHERS VIR 2 5k

BEAF sk ()

izt # Z g TR (41)

Details of share options granted under the Scheme are as follows:

BB BIR L 2 BREF BT

29 October 13 December
2018 2018 Total
2018 20185
108298 12813H L
Number of ordinary shares to be RITERAS T T2
issued upon exercise: TRRER -
— Chairman —xF 16,968,000 - 16,968,000
— Directors — &% 35,936,000 - 35,936,000
— Independent non-executive — B IEMITESR
directors 3,392,000 3,392,000
— Employees — B 8,500,000 1,000,000 9,500,000
64,796,000 1,000,000 65,796,000
For all the share options granted, 50% of the share options granted to be TR ENFAEBRENS K&K

exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration of 12 months
from the date of grant (the “first tranche”) and 50% of the share options
granted to be exercised by each grantee at any time after the expiration
of 24 months from the date of grant (the “second tranche”). In the
event the grantee ceases to be the participants, the share options
granted to the grantee shall lapse on the date which the grantee ceases
to be the participant.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, share-based payment expense of
approximately HKSNil (Note 11) (2022: HKSNil) for the share options
granted and vested was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss
with a corresponding credit in share option reserve and the vesting
condition of first tranche was fulfilled.

In respect of the share options granted on 29 October 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 29 October 2019 to 28 October 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 29 October 2020 to
28 October 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

In respect of the share options granted on 13 December 2018, they are
exercisable commencing from 13 December 2019 to 12 December 2023
(both dates inclusive) for the first tranche and from 13 December 2020
0 12 December 2023 (both dates inclusive) for the second tranche.

B A2 50% BN R A B 1218
REm 2 SRR FITE(TE—4t )
KA T & AR N 2 50% B IR B 1% i B
HARE 5T 24 8 A J@ im 2 (RIS A A 1748
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FECEREZBRNDAERNHAILY

T (M) 0225 : TEIL)ER
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H A 20198108291
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Z2023%F 10 A

#t)

K 72020810 8298 F 2023410 A28
B(BEEEMB) A FITE(EH]) -

FR2018F 12513 B R EMBARIET = -

H Al 2019512 813 H
NH(BEEEME) Al 17 (E—

Z2023% 12 A

#t)

K 72020912 8138 F2023F 12812
B(BEEEMB) A FITE(EH#) -



28. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued)

Details of the exercise prices and the movement of number of share
options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are

as follows.
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28. JRAERS TV Oy 2 B BE ATk (48

WZnt & Z 85 IR (4)

720239 % 202243 A31 B Z1TEE &
MR AT R AT 2 AR B BB
TO

Number of share options

BREHE

Adjusted Adjustment

exercise Lapsed/ on Rights
price At forfeited At Issue At
per share* 1 April during 31 March during 31 March
(HKS) 2021 the year 2022 the year 2023

BREAE
e #2021 5 £R R20225F FRHER #2023 %
(&) 4818 kM8 3A31H ioEk:S 3A31A
29 October 2018 201810829 H 13 2,166,400 (169,600 1,996,800 61,574 2,058,374
13 December 2018 2018F 128138 11.64 100,000 - 100,000 3,084 103,084
2,266,400 (169,600 2,096,300 64,758 2,161,458
* As a result of rights issue, adjustments were made to the exercise price of and the * AR - B20229F5 A12H#E - Bzt 2

number of the outstanding share options under the Scheme with effect from 12 May

2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no share options (2022: 169,600)
lapsed and the vesting condition has been fulfilled. During year ended
31 March 2022, the corresponding share option reserve of HK$708,000

was transferred to accumulated losses.

THEARITENEREOITEERGEETH
# o

HZE2023F3A31HIEFE - B (2022
F 116960017 ) AR HE K2 B 5 8 15 1+
BER > BE202F3A31HIEFE
FEE R BE A RE A 18 7080008 L E A &R
ATETE o
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28.

29.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 28. JBeHE &5 S DL Ay 2 BE A K (4])
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Remaining life of the Scheme (Continued) Zar Bl Z 8 THIRR ()
The fair values of employee services received in return for share options AHEE R B UER A 1B B IR
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options HNAFEDZ2EEREOBERERIR D
granted at grant date. The fair value is determined by the directors of the HEAW A AT E - R FETIBEARR
Company with reference to the valuation performed by an independent BEEZEBIAEMELFEA AN
valuer, CHFT using the binomial option pricing model and significant HErTBEAET mMzEANTEE
inputs into the model were as follows: ABBENT -
29 October 13 December
2018 2018
2018 2018 F
10829 H 12A13H
Expected volatility TEHR R i 48.71% 50.07%
Expected option life Te B A AR £F B 5 years 5 years
Expected dividend yield T8 B AR B s X 0.00% 0.00%
Annual risk-free interest rate FEER R R 2.26% 2.1%
Fair value — First tranche ~FE —F—# HK$0.389/87C  HK$S0.395 /7T
— Second tranche —E it HKS$044587C  HKS0454 87T
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical FEH N IR R R SR B @ A e 2 /B
volatility of future trends, adjusted for any expected changes to future % WAREE AR A8 & K ¥ R 3K 18 89
volatility based on publicly available information, which may also not R E SEH R - Halge i ~—
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the options was TEAERGER - N EEWES L
incorporated into the measurement of the fair value. R HE 2 E A o
The variables and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the fHEtEERS N AN EFREREN S L E
share options were the directors’ best estimates. Change in subjective LA EMREME T ARSEM
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value. EE AL e Y AT EEATASE -
The Group does not have a legal or constructive obligation to NREBWE L EIHTETIURSED
repurchase or settle the options in cash. E T EEPSHE o
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29, EARIE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group does not have any material capital
commitment (2022: Nil).

R2023F3H31H  NEB W EERE
KEREIE(2026F + B) -
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BN L2 S
(@) Key management compensation (a) HHEEHABZHM
2023 2022
2023 F 20224F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Salaries, wages and other benefits He - TEREMETR 3,051 2,966
Equity settled share-based payments & i 5 B LARR 1) B ERE A 3R - -
Pension costs defined contribution BESHRATBEERE R
plans and social security costs FEERER A 54 54
3,105 3,020
Key management personnel include the directors of the Company FEERABBERARAEEFRAR
and other senior management of the Group. The remuneration of SEEMEREEREE TEBEA
key management personnel is determined by the management of ENHFMEAQFEEEREEA
the Company having regard to the performance of individuals and KRR TIGBEETE -
market trends.
(b) Save as disclosed elsewhere on the consolidated financial (b) BREEHVERREMIBOFTHE

statements, the Group entered into the following material related
party transactions. These transactions are made of terms mutually
agreed by the related parties.

O REBETUTERRBEAL
Ry ZERPIHREZREEA
T EMRWE 2 RRETL -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HKS'000

BEALTRE RHHE TH T FAT

Beneficial owner Interest expense - 181
BB A MBI

Company with common executive director ~ Rental expense 41 -
BEBEHRAMITES 2 AR He X

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group rented one
property as office from a related company, of which one of
substantial shareholders of the Group had beneficial interest, with
a lease term of two years and monthly lease payment of
HK$40,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the lease
payment was HK$360,000 and the lease expired in December
2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, an executive director of the
Group has been appointed as an executive director of the
landlord, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of a company with
its ordinary shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange,
namely Far East Holdings International Limited.

REZ202F3A31HLEFE - &K
EBRRASEEEP B ERTHE
BEmETNEELTER—EY
EEANAE HHAMT 8A°
£ 5400008 7T c REIZE 20227
SABLEFE - BESHRA
360,000/ 7T+ 4 E 120224 12
AEIER -

REZ2023F3A31HLEFE - &K
EEN—RRNTESCEZTAE
ITHHMTES  EX A HELER

GRFTER EWARAR (AIERR
EREREAERAT)NEEHBEA
aj °
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31. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of Summit Pacific Group Limited (“Summit
Pacific”)

On 15 December 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Gain
Global Inc. ("Gain Global”) entered into a sales and purchase
agreements with an independent third party, pursuant to which Gain
Global agreed to dispose of 100% equity interest in Summit Pacific
(representing the entire equity interest in Summit Pacific held by the
Group) with an aggregate cash consideration HK$2,000 (the “Disposal”).

The principal activity of Summit Pacific was engaged in property holding
until 31 March 2020 and Summit Pacific became inactive being since the
year ended 31 March 2021.

The breakdown of consolidated assets/(liabilities) of Summit Pacific as at
15 December 2021, the completion date of Disposal, and the
consideration of Disposal are as follow:

31. HEHE 2w

i Summit Pacific Group Limited
([Summit Pacific])

2021128158 * ARRNEEN B
/A7) Gain Global Inc. ([ Gain Global | ) 82—
BEBUFE =R LEE RS Bt
Gain Global [f & i & Summit Pacific 100%
RS HE ({5 7N S B BT Summit Pacific 2 &BA%
) BReREAR2000EFTL((HES
H]) -

20203 A31H Z B * Summit Pacific
ZEEFE AN EYWEZER - Summit
Pacific BE{Z 20213 A 31 HILFE#EI
METEEE o

Summit Pacific 2202112 B 15 B 2 42 A
BE/(aB)BAMAAMEESEEZNRE
o

HKS$'000

FET
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHEH 21
Accruals and other payables FERT B R R B FE T AR 5K (530)
Net liabilities disposed of: BEHEBEFE (509)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB ARz W 511
Total consideration to be satisfied by cash WRES N ZBRE 2

Cash flow movement in relation to the Disposal during the year ended

HE202F3IANHILFEREBEESIHE

31 March 2022: ERzBEREZS
HK$'000
FAT
Cash consideration received BHEENRE 2
Cash at bank disposed BHERITHES 21
Net cash outflow arising on Disposal HESEEE ZRS ML IFE (19




Annual Report 2023 F#

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o BV 285 e B

WT

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F3A31AILFE

32. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

2. BB TR R GE

CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transaction (a) FEIFBERYG
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the accrued finance cost in REZE202F3A31HILEFE @ JE
amount of HK$1,506,000, lease payment of HK$911,000, other ST AR 751,506,000 8 7T« FEE K
borrowings obtained from Mr. Chan Vincent Wing Sing in amount TE911,00078 7T ~ B PR 7Kk B 50 & B
of HK$2,000,000 and the amount due to immediate holding BHH m{ﬁ%’xzoooooo;‘%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
company in amount of HK$339,000 were offset entirely by ET&T 3K TE 339,000 T iB
transferring to other borrowings. i@%%iﬁ@%?ﬂ%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) b B A A 2 B AR
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TRALAEERKEREZHZE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. EEE  BRIERSNIERESEH o
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which METHELAZEBEAESTRED
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the R RKISREBERNAER 245
Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from ERERERTOBAMETEE
financing activities. EvREREZAE -
Other
borrowing Amount Total
interest dueto liabilities
included in immediate from
Lease Other other holding financing
liabilities borrowings payables company activities
FTAEAM N
ERER: EENEEZER BEFHES
HEBE Hihfg® EpEEFS RRFE 2aEesE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FAT TEL FAT FEL
At April 2021 R202154 718 1,559 30,000 1,109 339 33,007
Changes from financing RERERER
cash flows:
Proceeds from other borrowings Hif ﬁﬁZFﬁEﬁK - 20 - - 20
Repayment of other borrowings 1, EHMEE - (3,000) - - (3,000
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEEERE (679) - - - (679)
Payments for interests FBMZ (79 - (3,207) - (3,286)
Total changes from financing RMERSHELYLE
cash flows (758) (2,980) (3,207) - (6,945)
Other changes: Hth# s :
Off set with related parties balance L iBEAE A T 5% - 339 - (339) -
Off set with lease liabilities HEHERRE 911 9N - - -
Off set with interest payable HHER IS - 1,506 (1,506) - -
Interest charges on other EffgB o MEX L
borrowings (Note 26) (P55 26) - - 4302 - 4302
Interest charges on lease HEAEFMEZH
liabilities (Note 26) (M5 26) 79 - - - 79
New lease liabilities HHEAE 2,092 - - - 2092
Total other changes Hih2ghes 2171 339 4302 (339) 6473
At 31 March 2022 M202%3A31H 2,061 29776 698 - 32,535
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32. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32,

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

i Bl R R B RE (A])

(b) Rl ) 2 A 2 H AR (D)

Other
borrowing Total
interest liabilities
included in from
Lease Other other financing
liabilities borrowings payables activities
FHAEA
EfERz ®MEZDELE
HEEE Hitife g HBEFR ZEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TERT TExT TERT
A1 April 2022 M2022%54H18 2,061 29,776 698 32,535
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSRELE
Proceeds from other borrowings HiB B2 T8 50R - 2,000 - 2,000
Repayment of other borrowings EBEHEMES - (29,776) - (29,776)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEMRERE (1,232) = = (1,232)
Payments for interests FERTK (67) - - (67)
Total changes from financing cash flows BB IR & E & &) L5 (1,299) (27,776) - (29,075)
Other changes: HEE
Interest charges on other borrowings  EAMEE ZFI 8% H
(Note 26) (Fff3E 26) - - 962 962
Interest charges on lease liabilities HEEBEZAEXH
(Note 26) (P 5% 26) 67 - - 67
Early termination of lease RERILEES (71) - - (71)
Total other changes Hih B EhagE (4) - 962 958
At 31 March 2023 202363 A31H 758 2,000 1,660 4,418
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33. SUBSIDIARIES 33. FHE 2 T

Place of Nominal value Percentage of equity
establishment/ of issued attributable to the Company
principal share capital/ AAREERESZEDL
Name of subsidiary place of operation registered capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
JAvR:1 BRATRE
WEARAE TEREBY HMEXEE ¢ M TEXR
Arcadia Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares of - 100%  Trading of jewellery products
HK$500,000
EEUMHBR AT B L 3BAR 500,000 7T BEREER
Man Sang Jewellery Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Trading of pearl products
(Hong Kong) Limited
REKE (FB)BRAA EE Tk 1B BEDKER
Hui Bao Feng Jewellery the PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Purchasing and processing of
(Shenzhen) Limited US$2,000,000 pearls and assembling of pearl
jewellery
EEEHRE(RIDERAR A M EZR2,000000% 7T RERNIZKRR
FRDWIAE
Full Wealth Investment Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Financial assets investment
Hong Kong Limited
ERREBBRRATF EE TRER AT TREERE
Sparkie World Inc. The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Sparkle World Inc. RBRIEE e BEAER
Full Wealth Inc. The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
EmAEAF EBRAHS LER1ET REER
Arcadia Global Holdings The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited
EELRFIERBRAT HEBEAHB LER =T RAEER
Gain Global Inc. The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Gain Global Inc. RBRIEHE TRk1ET BAER
Thriving Oasis Limited The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Dormant
Thriving Oasis Limited KBRS LERIETL TES
Eminent Affluent Limited The British Virgin Islands  Ordinary share of US$1 100% - Dormant
Eminent Affluent Limited EERIES Lk TEE
Arcadia Investment Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
EELREERBRAF 5 LER AT REER
Man Sang Innovations Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$5,000 - 100%  Dormant
Limited
REAIRERAT &k E B 500078 T TE
Pro Art Jewellery Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share of HK$100 - 100%  Dormant
BEREARLA Eit L@k 1008 T TES

+

— B AR EE SR AE  E
XABNARANERERRALSHEE
A TR -

The English name of a subsidiary represents the best effort by the
management of the Company in translating its Chinese name as it does
not have official English name.

PR2023F3A318  WMENBEARD %
ITHERERES (20224 « ) »

As at 31 March 2023, none of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities (2022: Nil).
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34. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 34. Kz HBER
COMPANY
Statement of financial position B R DL
As at 31 March 2023 R202363H31H
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ks FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZIHE 11,198 11,198
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG ] 53,640 49,518
64,838 60,716
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables AN A N H A pEURBR F = -
Cash and cash equivalents e NERRE 2,453 246
2,453 246
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E e AR SR 6,955 7,561
Other borrowings HipEE = 29,776
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERT B A R IE 34,846 28,819
41,801 66,156
Net current liabilities REBAETFE (39,348) (65,910)
Net assets EEEXE 25,490 (5,194)
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to equity RNATIREEEES
holders of the Company
Share capital R 2R 25 12,786 6,393
Reserves e (a 12,704 (11,587)
Total equity B 25,490 (5,194)
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by KNAFBEARRFTER2023%F6 B28H
the Board of Directors on 28 June 2023 and is signed on its behalf. EEEeATHIUTEERREE
Cheng Chi Kin Cheung Sze Ming
BB R
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director

FERPTEF HITEE
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34. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 34. KAwIZMBER ()
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Statement of financial position (Continued) MR (58)
Note: BitsE
(a)  Reserves mov t of the Company (a) ERATHEES
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B3R E BRERE REER st
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FExT FAET FAET
At 1 April 2020 H202054 A1 H 588,589 9,461 (597,462) 588
Loss for the year REEEE - - (16,337) (16,337)
Lapse of share options (Note 28) B RR & 2k 2% (Fff 3% 28) - (708) 708
Placing of new shares (Note 25(a)) B2 & ¥TA% 1 (Mi3F 25()) 4162 - - 4162

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 7202243 31 H &

20244818 592,751 8,753 (613,091) (11,587)
Loss for the year REEER - - (2,088) (2,088)
Placing of new shares (Note 25(0)) B2 & &5 (5% 25(0)) 26,379 - = 26,379

At 31 March 2023 7202363 H31H 619,130 8,753 (615,179) 12,704




Affluent Partners Holdings Limited SEZRER QA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SO B B R Pk
For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3A31H L FE

35. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35. & H M %5 MoRE A

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) FHFME
EEEZHeHEHNAT :

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31HLEE

EREF(TmARRKENE
RAEIER) 2RBENTESKRE

Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in
respect of their services as directors, whether of the company or

its subsidiary undertaking: FrEW B -
Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Fees Salary payments scheme Total
REFEURG EEXHRKER
Name of director EEf3 e Fe REBRAREX STEINER @
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiER TER TR TR
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (Chairman) BFREE(TE) - 390 - 18 408

Mr. Leung Alex PEEEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming REQEE - 884 - 18 902
120 1,274 - 36 1,430
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Zhu Yongjun RBELE(R0NEF
(appointed on 9 September 2022) 9RIREZMH) 135 = = = 135
Independent non-executive directors BV FHTES
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny HEREE(RnF
(resigned on 10 May 2023) SAI0BET) 180 - - - 180
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic BRI (R 2002
(resigned on 11 October 2022) 10A 11 BEHE) 95 - - - 95
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BXEEE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Chang Chunyu BEMAE(R202EF
(appointed on 17 November 2022) 11 R17BEZE) 67 = = = 67
522 - - - 522
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35. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(@

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set
out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2022
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors in

respect of their services as directors, whether of the company or
its subsidiary undertaking:

35. EHENE LM ()

(a) FEHIE (4)

BEEZRTHREH 2Me5H
™~

HZE2022F3A31HLEFE
HREBEFT(TwmARTEK B

REAEH) ZREENTEERE
ERW BN

Employers
Equity contribution
settled toa
share- retirement
based benefit
Fees Salary payments scheme Total
REEZE RGN EEHRLERN
Name of director EEHA we ¢ REREAREX SHEIMER 5t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TAT TAT TAT FAT AL
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Cheng ChiKin (Chairman) HT8E4(TE) - 390 - 18 408
Mr.Leung Alex REBLE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Cheung Sze Ming ReFEEAE - 884 - 18 902
120 1274 - 36 1430
Independent non-executive directors BV FHTES
Mr. Chiu Sin Nang, Kenny HERLE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Dong Bo, Frederic ENEia 180 - - - 180
Mr.Wong Siu Keung, Joe Eh@BEE(R20nF
(appointed on 14 January 2022) 1A 4 BEZT) 39 - - - 39
Mr. Lee Kin Keung Tt (RonF
(resigned on 14 January 2022) 1B 14 BEF) 173 - - - 173
572 - - - 572
Notes: FfzE -

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
non-executive director's emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, no directors agreed to waive their partial
emoluments voluntarily (2022: Nil).

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there is no Chief Executive Officer
(the "CEO") of the Group employed. In the absence of the CEO, the duties of the CEO
have been to be collectively undertaken by all executive directors of the Company.

EXFrBITEE e T EmRNRER
HEARBRAEEEHER B ZRE
EXFrAERITE S 2N T EARNBEEF
RARR AN B QR EEMER RS -
EXFTABERITERE e T RN R
SERARBERMERMH R

REZE2023F3A3HILFE  BEEER
BERMEREZBHOME (2022F : &) -

HE203FR202F3A31BILFE A&
EN RS R TE A ([TERAR]) - BR=1T
BRBENBERLT @ TRAROBEHAAR
2ERITESHERARE -
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35. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination

benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits during the year (2022: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for

making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’

services (2022: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with

such directors

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such

directors (2022: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial statements, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year (2022: Nil).

35. EHENE LM ()

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

o 5 B AR A L A A

AE A EE = YRSEIER
AR R AR ek B B A1 (2022 F
&) e

0 B I 2 RS i 1 5 =05
Fefit 2 A

REE2023F383BHIEFE K
A B A L SR A & R AR A T
ME=ZFTTRE(20224F : ) »

A5 B DL 3 2 35
I L A % R 2 A 2 0%
3K WS RN 52 B

REZE2023F3A31HILFE - #
BRI ABBRE R FIEHIEE
NABERAISEAZER  EE
RREMZHLHE(2022F « &) o

ERRZS - RHEEHTZ
EWN; £

SRz EaRa MIBMRAWBEI
RAFRREAFRRETAIEE
AR ERRERE RAREZ
EEMARR CEETHERIERAE
HAFBAEARG ERRS X«
HEREH (2022 - &) -
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 11 August 2022, an announcement was made by the Company, that
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”),
entered into a memorandum of understanding (the “MOU") with the
vendors (the “Vendors"), pursuant to which the Purchaser will acquire
and the Vendors will procure the sale of a group of companies (the
“Target Group") established in the PRC upon completion of its
reorganisation, which are principally engaged in the provision of skincare
solutions through self-transformed skincare brand and functional
skincare products, as well as medicinal research and development (the
“Potential Acquisition”). The consideration is expected to be
HK$42,000,000, of which 25% of the consideration is expected to be
settled by issue of consideration shares by the Company, and 75% of the
consideration is expected to be settled by the issue of convertible bonds
by the Company.

As at the date of this report, the terms and conditions of the Potential
Acquisition are still being negotiated and no definitive transaction
agreement or other legally binding agreement has been entered into.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issued by the board of directors on 28 June 2023.

36.

37.

e i 112 2508

R202F8 A1 ARREM KA
AMEENBRAR(ESRHEES (&
BB mEET((RRESE])
B EEATKE  BABKEmMS
FEREEE —HEPBERIND T
(TEE&EH]) ZSARETENREEB
BEE(CNEE RS MR EE MR
HEESFRAE  ANMEYFE([EE
WE=EE |) o (X B 85 A&42,000,000 %
JL o B osu BB R AR R ET
RERMD A m75% R EBIEEE B A
NREITARREST A -

RARE B BRERBEEENGER R
R DAERER - WERT AN F W
FYHMABERORNOME

i i S 5 R R

FEBBBRN2023F6c A8 EESE
SHUE R IRET)E -
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RESULTS E 3
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31ALEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 £ 2022 2021 4 2020 4F 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET FHET FHET FHET
Revenue A 86,880 62,647 43,324 111,978 171,266
Profit/(loss) before income tax KR TS RLATH T,
(E18) 8,726 (15,462) (52,077) (280,402) (43,220)
Income tax credit/(expense) TR E R, (%) - - 292 (1,420) 404
Profit/(loss) attributable to ARARIARRFEL
equity holders of the FEmA (E8)
Company for the year 8,726 (15,462) (51,785) (281,822) (42,816)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 299 5=L I
At 31 March
M3A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 & 20224 2021 4F 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT FHEIT FHET FHET
Total assets BEE 99,851 82,109 91,765 158,657 277,860
Total liabilities wEE 21,513 46,242 45820 73,525 79,882
Equity attributable to equity AN A TIIZEE
holders of the Company JEfL R 78,338 35,867 45,945 85,132 197,978
Note: MEE

The financial figures were extracted from the consolidated financial statements in the annual report.

MHBFHSAFREEMBRE
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